# THE 'SOCIAL' IN PIAGET'S GENETIC EPISTEMOLOGY

θ,

ň

Jennifer Court

IJ

A Research Report submitted to the Faculty of Education, University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg, in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Education by Coursework.

Johannesburg 1999

Degree awarded with distinction on 8 December 1999

### ABSTRACT

9

ť

In opposition to the historically accepted view that Piaget failed to theorise the 'social' in his theory of cognitive development this research report shows that the 'social' is central to his genetic epistemology and that his conceptualisation of the 'social' has interesting implications for educational thinking. Specifically, the report shows that not only did Piaget include the social dimension in his genetic epistemology but that his understanding of the role of the 'social' in the development of cognition raises interesting possibilities for future psychological and educational research.

#### **KEY WORDS**

Genetic Epistemology; Piaget; Constructivism; Psychogenesis; Sociogenesis; Social Relations; Interaction; Co-operation; Social Exchange; Egocentrism; Peer Interaction; Cognitive conflict; Equilibration; Logic; Morality; Affectivity.

## DECLARATION

 $\emptyset$ 

I declare that this research report is my own, unaided work. It is being submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Education by Coursework in the University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg. It has not been submitted before for any degree or examination in any other university.

Pout

(Name of candidate)

26/2/99

م المسيق

## **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

Thank you to my parents, Lawrence and Heather Court, who have supported me through the years of my academic study and for the long reflective walks with the dogs. To my sister and brother and their respective families I thank you for putting up with my absence over the past two years. Finally, I am immensely indebted to Rashad Bagus, my supervisor, who instilled in me the confidence to pursue further academic research and whose analytic mind and creative thinking I will always admire.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

a

ABSTRACT	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	ii
DECLARATION		iii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	iv
INTRODUCTION	*****	1
LITERATURE REVIEW	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	3
THE 'SOCIAL' IN PIAGET'S GENETIC EPISTEMOLOGY	••••	23
1. Piaget's Genetic Epistemology	*****	23
a). Psychology, Sociology and Genetic Epistemology		27
b). The Social-Relational View of Development	••••••	30
2. The Role of the 'Social' in Genetic Epistemology	••••••	35
a). The 'Social' in the Equilibration Process		35
b). The 'Social' in the Construction of Logic	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	42
c). The 'Social' in the Development of Morality and Affectivity	* * *** * * * * * * * * * * * *	45
THE IMPLICATIONS OF PIAGET'S CONCEPTUALISATION C	)F THE 'SO	CIAL' FOR
EDUCATION		
CONCLUSION.	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	60
REFERENCES		

Q

), jet 1

0 10

It is impossible to disassociate the biological and the social aspects when you are dealing with psychological development. A phenomenon is always biological in its roots, and social at its end point. But we must not forget, also, that between the two it is mental.

Jean Piaget (in Evans, 1973, p.6-7)

 $\circ$ 

#### Introduction

Explanations of cognitive development have either posited nurture (external environment) or nature (internal biology) as the primary factors responsible for cognitive development. Piaget (1932) attempts to establish a *tertium quid* between these alternatives and argues, instead, for a dialectical interaction between the two. That is, Piaget's interest is in how the external world (nurture) and the biological (nature) interact with one another and contribute to development. As such, Piaget (in Perret-Clermont, 1980) consistently emphasises the interaction between the individual and the social and claims that "society is like all organisations, a system of interactions in which each individual contributes a small sector which is both biological and Development takes place through continual interactions, a dialectical relationship" social. However, due to Piaget's extensive use of a biological metaphor to explain (p.25). development, as well as his use of specifically biological concepts to explain human cognition. I maintain that his theory has been interpreted as backing the 'inner' (biological) rather than the 'outer' (environment). In the process, the dialectical nature of his reasoning has been undermined and, more importantly, the significant role of the social environment in his theory has been underplayed.

This research report will show that not only did Piaget include the social dimension in his genetic epistemology but that he also adequately theorised the role of the 'social' in cognitive development. The first section of the report will be devoted to a discussion of the different criticisms that Piaget's genetic epistemology does not include a social dimension. Following from this, I will analyse the 'social' in Piaget's genetic epistemology and psychology and the significance of this relationship for genetic epistemology as a whole; and (b) his social-relational view of development. Thereafter, I will look at the role of the 'social' in genetic epistemology with

regard to (a) the equilibration process; (b) the construction of logic; and (c) the development of morality and affectivity respectively. The final section of this report will focus on the implications of Piaget's conceptualisation of the 'social' for education. In demonstrating the complex and in-depth conceptualisation of the 'social' in Piaget's genetic epistemology this research report will, therefore, attempt to rectify the historical misrepresentation of his theory and demonstrate how an understanding of his conceptualisation of the 'social' could ble used profitably in education.

ĬĮ,

Ð.

de Sy

#### Literature review

A recurrent criticism in the large body of literature devoted to Piaget's genetic epistemology in general and his psychological theorising in specific is his 'failure' to theorise adequately 'the role of the social' in the development of cognition. To establish the nature and scope of this basic criticism this review will look at the different foci of this criticism within (some of) the literature. Although there are underlying similarities between these foci I have divided these, somewhat arbitrarily, into eight separate areas, viz., criticisms of Piaget's (1) biological approach to development; (2) emphasis on formal operations; (3) structuralism; (4) conflation of physical and social cognition; (5) underestimation of the role of the social in the acquisition of knowledge; (6) omission of 'culture'; (7) focus on egocentrism; and (8) exclusion of the social dimension in his experiments. Given the overlapping nature of these criticisms some repetition has been unavoidable.

#### 1. The Biological Model in the Explanation of Development

Bronckart (1996), Broughton (1981a; b; c; d), Bruner (1959), Hamlyn (1967), and Moll (1984) argue that Piaget's biological explanation of development does not emphasise the social dimension in development. Bronckart (1996) focuses on Piaget's early work on sensorimotor development and contends that Piaget rejects the hypothesis of a creative role for society in human development. Specifically, Bronckart objects to Piaget's claim that during the sensorimotor stage the first forms of meaning roceed directly from the individual-object interaction without adult action playing any role. Sensorimotor action, according to Bronckart (1996), is perceived by Piaget as "an organism producing (or "causing") objective effects on the objects" (p.102). As a result

cognitive capacities are worked out through abstraction only of the properties of this causal chain of events to which the agent

belongs. At the very heart of the agent's reason are the logical properties of the interaction between two physical entities, the organism and the environment, and not the properties of the social activity such as it is (re)defined and (re)negotiated in language. (Bronckart, 1996, p.102)

Thus, Bronckart maintains that Piaget denies a decisive role to social interaction and language in the evolution of mental functioning. That is, for Piaget, the very origin of logicalmathematical thought proceeds directly from an interiorisation and a reconstruction at the mental level of the causal system and there is no room for social mediation or social interaction in this developmental process. Consequently, Bronckart (1996) concludes that "Piagetian interactionism takes place within a solitary organism" (p.102).

Hamlyn (1967) endorses this view and contends that Piaget's biological approach to development only considers the individual organism in relation to its physical environment as if social factors have no part to play. Furthermore, Broughton (1981c) maintains that Piaget subsumes society under the general rubric of environment and, consequently, human individuals experience their social environment in the same way that organisms experience the natural environment. As a result, the cognitive-structural side of the interaction is stressed at the expense of the environmental side, namely, the social determinants of behaviour. Consequently, Broughton (1981c) maintains that Piaget "systematically screens out the exigencies of the social life in order to focus on the natural constitution of mental structures themselves" (p.336) and, therefore, he is forced to explain human development as "an autonomous unfolding of a program that is in some way innate" (Broughton, 1981b, p.280). As such, Broughton (1981b) contends, Piaget construes development as a protressive self-reliance and his theory of cognitive development amounts to "a bi-phasic account of how 'biological' functioning yields 'logical' structures, from biology to knowledge" (p.278). Bruner (1959) supports this claim and suggests that Piaget substitutes "the idea of logical

structures for the functional system of biology" (p.364) while Moll (1984) similarly accuses Piaget of reducing human cognitive development to biological development. Indeed, in presupposing the epistemological primacy of biological activity Piaget emphasises, for Moll (1984), a "concept of activity which is radically non-social" (p.35) and, consequently, Moll contends that knowledge, for Piaget, is in no sense socially constituted. On the basis of the foregoing Moll concludes that Piaget's genetic epistemology is inadequate because it does not take sufficient account of the role of social content in the construction of a child's cognition. For the above theorists, then, the Piagetian subject is a 'solitary knower' (Smith, 1982; 1995; 1996) in a physical, rather than a social world.

1

0 7

> In addition, Bruner (1985), Grize (in Smith, 1982), Meacham (1975) Riegel (1973; 1975a; b), Riegel and Meacham (1978), Sameroff (1975), and Wozniak (1974; 1996) object to Piaget's theory of equilibration. According to Grize (in Smith, 1982), Piaget's equilibratory model accords greater primacy to motor and manipulative behaviour and, in so doing, ignores cultural and linguistically mediated forms of activity. Consequently, Bruner (1985) suggests that in the Piagetian model of development "a lone child struggles singlehanded to strike some equilibrium between assimilating the world to himself or himself to the world" (p.25).

> Sameroff (1975) and Riegel and Meacham (1978) further argue that development and change do not consist in stages at which equilibrium is achieved but rather in continuing modifications. Both Riegel (1973; 1975b) and Meacham (1975) recognise the potential for a dialectical basis for Piaget's theory. For instance, they maintain that the assimilationaccommodation paradigm which Piaget uses for depicting basic biological interactions and early cognitive differentiation, as well as the coordination and sequencing of these early schemata, incorporate the dialectical principles of contradiction, resolution and qualitative

change. However, Riegel (1973) maintains that "all of the remaining explications of Piaget's theory characterize development as a progression toward abstract thought, away from and toward a denial of contradictions" (p.350). Thus, according to Wozniak (1974), Piaget's theory fails to provide a convincing theoretical mechanism through which the social world can alter the course of post-sensorimotor cognitive development. Consequently, Riegel (1975a) and Wozniak (1996) suggest that Piaget's theory overlooks the importance of social interaction and the essentially intersubjective nature of human development. In opposition to this inadequacy in Piaget's thinking Wozniak (1996) contends that

[h]uman intelligence...especially as it is biologically motivated, must be organized from the outset in its function and development not only towards the construction of logic and the elaboration of the physical world but towards the acquisition of cultural meanings and the elaboration with others of shared reality in conjoint activity around objects. (p.22-23)

Similarly, Riegel and Meacham (1978) believe that, by contrast to Piaget's ahistorical view, individual development needs to be viewed within the "progressions of history" (p.35) which provides a continually changing social and cultural context.

#### 2. The Emphasis on Formal Operations

This criticism focuses on Piaget's emphasis on formal operations as the end point of development. For instance, Broughton (1984) claims that Piaget's formal operational model eliminates any social or cultural dimension from human cognition. According to Broughton this is because Piaget's elevation of logic represents a subordination of experience to form as well as the dualistic exclusion of the subject of knowledge from the object of knowledge. As a result, Broughton (1981a) contends, the logical structure of reasoning is a purely individual matter developed through the interaction between subject and object and, therefore, for Piaget, "logic is not a social phenomenon or a cultural construction" (p.95). Bruner (1959) endorses

this view and argues that content, or meaning, is much more determinate of the structures of mature cognition than Piaget's theory of formal operations allows. In addition, Broughton (1984) contends that in Piaget's formal operational model both understanding and action are prevented from being informed by, or influencing, the historical transformation of society. Thus, "formal operational adults supposedly live in a hermetically sealed ahistorical universe where life is a matter of necessities deriving from the natural nonmanmade (sic) laws of equilibrium" (Broughton, 1984, p.408) and, consequently, experience is formalised in abstract models free from concrete experience. As such, Broughton (1981c) argues that Piaget's theory presupposes and fortifies an abstract opposition between structure – system, society, culture and history and the Piagetian subject remains forever isolated from the social environment.

Riegel (in Youniss, 1978) further argues that if the pinnacle of human cognitive development is abstract formal operations, as Piaget claims, development consists of a progressive separation of subject from object or of the form and content of cognition. As such, Riegel claims the Piagetian subject knows the world by looking into herself for increasingly abstract and general concepts or principles with the result that thought becomes so abstract that it loses touch with reality and eventually with practical action. Consequently, Riegel maintains that the Piagetian subject becomes increasingly alienated from others and from society. Knowledge is constructed within and by structures internal to the Piagetian subject and one does not need to look to social content to explain its origin or development. As such, Piaget's emphasis on cognitive structures that are independent of the contents of cognition results, for Riegel, in a theory in which the social has no role.

In a similar vein, Buck-Morss (1980) criticises Piaget's dualistic separation of cognition and society and contends that Piaget denies a structural identity between mind and society and, in so doing, fails to recognise "that the logical structure of abstract formalism, far from universal, is itself the product of history, that the form of cognition is itself social content" (Buck-Morss, 1982, p.263). That is, Piaget's theory, according to Buck-Morss (in Riegel and Meacham, 1978), ignores the fact that both the content of mind as well as cognitive processes are dependent upon the practical activities which emerge under differing social conditions. Buck-Morss (1982) and Simpson (1974) contend, therefore, that Piaget's emphasis on a universal theory of development has resulted in the failure to take into account the crucial socio-historical determinants of cognitive development. Consequently, Buss (1977) contends that Piaget disregards the historical dimension of human development and presents instead "an ahistorical scientific study of the development of epistemic operations" (p.120).

### 3. Piaget's Structuralism

μŝ

Venn and Walkerdine (in Moll, 1984) and Wilden (1980) maintain that human consciousness can only be explained by revealing its location in the structural totality of human society. Specifically, Wilden (1980) finds fault with Piaget's notion of self-regulation which, according to Piaget, entails "self-maintenance and closure" and is defined as the structure's "innermost source of movement" (p.316-317). This suggests, for Wilden, that the transformations are inherent and never lead outside the organism or individual. Therefore, Wilden contends that Piaget provides a mechanistic model of development in that it is the internal logic of structures, and not the social or cultural context, which compels development. In addition, Wilden (1980), Rotman (1977) and Venn and Walkerdine (in Broughton, 1981c) object to Piaget's appeal to mathematics to support his theory of equilibrium. Venn and

Walkerdine (in Broughton, 1981c) believe that Piaget's use of mathematics and logic as a combined structural model of competence has resulted in the exclusion of the "significant and obvious fact of mathematical and logical discourse as social practices" (p.339). That is, mathematics may consist of operations, as Piaget suggests, but these operations are part of a system of social conventions and therefore, according to Venn and Walkerdine (in Ingleby, 1986), they can never be developed by the child directly out of her dealings with objects. In this regard, Rotman (1977) objects to Piaget's notion that logicomathematical knowledge originates solely in the individual's activity patterns and that logic is abstracted through a process of internalisation and reflective abstraction governed by the laws of equilibrium. This organism-environmental model suggests, for Rotman, that logicomathematical structures evolve independently of either language or social and cultural influence. As such, according to Wilden (1980), human nature, for Piaget, amounts merely to "autonomous structure" and Piaget conceives of the "system-environment relationship of the child...in terms of the equilibrated 'bounded structure' of homogenous elements (p.327). In so doing, Piaget ignores the "REAL context of accumulation, socioeconomic status, psychosocial 'socialization" (ibid, p.313) [emphasis in original]. Such foundations for an epistemology results, for Wilden, in the generation of an imaginary or ideological barrier between the child and her environment. As a result

> the actual open-system relationship of 'individual' and 'environment' – in which boundaries = communication – is implicitly or explicitly conceived of as a relationship between two closed systems, each of which can do without the other until or only for as long as they bump into each other in the street. (Wilden, 1980, p.32<sup>8</sup>)

A major inadequacy of Piaget's theory, for Wilden (1980), therefore, is its understanding of environment, namely, "its antisocial point of view" (p.310). For Wilden (1980) the Piagetian subject amounts to little more than an objective entity and Piaget's theory does not consider

that it is the child's "open relationship to the various levels of the environment which account for all 'intentional acts' and 'meaning'" (p.326). Therefore, Wilden (1980) describes Piaget's theory as individualistic and concludes that

> it is precisely a full and open understanding of the partly controlled and partly random feedback relationship to a CONTEXT [social, cultural and historical] which is missing from Piaget's structuralism. (p.350) [emphasis in original]

Venn and Walkerdine (in Moll, 1984) echo this view and criticise Piaget's "theoretical removal of the human subject from its location in the overall structures of society" (p.69). They argue that Piaget's theory emphasises the role of the individual as agent in the transaction with the environment (social or physical) and, therefore, it is the subject's actions alone that enable the construction of cognitive structures. Thus, Venn and Walkerdine (in Moll, 1984) argue that Piaget's error is an epistemological one which "ignores the source of knowledge in language and history" (p.70). Consequently, they conclude that Piaget's genetic epistemology ignores the fact that knowledge is a social production. For Venn and Walkerdine (in Moll, 1984) structure is by definition social, however, Piaget ignores this and substitutes it with an "organism bound biological structure" (p.70). Consequently, Venn and Walkerdine (in Moll, 1984, p.72) claim that Piaget's theory "misconstrues the structures of knowledge as the structures of the organism". Therefore, for these theorists, Piaget's structural theory of development must be rejected as a meaningful explanation of human cognition.

#### 4. The Conflation of Physical and Social Cognition

Researchers such as Cohen (1983), Damon (1981; 1983), Glick (1978), Hoffman (1981), Keating and Clark (1980), Rotman (1977), Sigel (1981), and Turiel (in Murray, 1983) claim

that Piaget's theory fails because it treats social cognition as if it were physical cognition. As a result it takes the subject's knowledge of the social world as not being essentially different from her knowledge of the physical world. For example, Rotman (1977) argues that Piaget's theory is deficient because it takes the physical environment to be constitutive of a subject's environment and fails to consider that individuals are immersed in a non-natural, social world. That is, an environment of ideas, meanings, intentions, history and symbols "within a matrix of social influence and co-operation" (Rotman, 1977, p.181). Cohen (1983) endorses this contention and argues that Piaget's main focus is on the child's relationship with physical objects. According to Cohen (1983) development, for Piaget, is a product of interactions between the "genetic base" (p.151) and the physical environment. Therefore, Cohen (1983) maintains that Piaget's theory remains largely "a question of how we know the reality of things" (p.92) and, consequently, Piaget neglects the role of social interaction and social relationships in the development of reason.

15

In a similar vein, Hoffman (1981) cites Piaget's (1963) claim that the "reaction of intelligence...to the social environment is exactly parallel to its reaction to the physical environment" (p.67) as evidence that Piaget believed that the cognition of social events entails the same cognitive structures and schemes that are implicated in the cognition of nonsocial (physical) events. However, Hoffman argues that while there may be cognitive competencies in the social domain that have a more or less exact parallel in the physical domain there are also social cognitive competencies that do not share such parallels. Specifically, Hoffman focuses on the issue of affect and accuses Piaget of operating on the assumption that once cognitive processes are set in motion they can be studied without recourse to affect. Hoffman (1981) maintains that social cognition, to a far greater extent than cognition in the physical domain operates not alone but in "the context of a complex, mutually facilitative give and take

between affective and cognitive processes" (p.78). Thus, according to Hoffman, there are essential differences between social and ph/sical cognition. Damon (1983) maintains that Piaget's theory of equilibrium ignores these differences and instead describes "a general subject-object feedback system that can rely on physical as easily as social experience" (p.164) without acknowledging the potential of social objects for social interaction. According to Damon (1981), the principles unique to social interaction, namely, "the ability of persons intentionally to coordinate their actions, thoughts, and perspectives with one another" (p.158) makes possible forms of communication and reciprocal exchanges that are not possible in the inanimate, physical world and, therefore, requires a special sort of understanding. The sfore, Sigel (1981) suggests that, in Piaget's theory, social exchange needs the same "specification of form and function" (p.205) that is given to his conceptualization of physical experience.

On the basis of the foregoing Turiel (in Murray, 1983) argues for a non-structural explanation in the social domain. That is, social cognitive development should not be explained by the same global structures that organismic theories have applied to the development of cognition in general. Turiel (in Glick, 1978) suggests, for example, that in the social domain developmental sequences may be very different from the logical sequences found in cognitive developmental theories such as Piaget's. Glick (in Hoffman, 1981) supports this and argues that social cognition is based "less on logic and more on probability" (p.67). According to Glick (1978) physical events are specifiable and stable and, therefore, they permit the development of logical systems that allow for knowledge that transcends physical particulars. Social events, by contrast, display less stability and should involve knowledge structures of a more probabilistic kind. Consequently, according to Glick, the nature of social events is such that their cognition should be considered as qualitatively distinct from the cognition of physical events. In denying this distinction between the two domains Piaget's theory, for Glick, ignores the fact that social cognition relies on a shared cultural belief system or social and cultural scripts. Finally, Keating and Clark (1980) argue that although Piaget's account of formal ciperational thinking may be applicable to social contexts "the basic approach to cognitive activity in the social domain has borrowed so heavily from existing cognitive approaches that there is little that is truly 'social' about it" (p.29).

# 5. The Underestimation of the Role of the Social in the Acquisition of Knowledge

This criticism focuses specifically on the conditions under which an individual acquires knowledge. The claim here is that Piaget's genetic epistemology fails because it treats cognition, in any form whether physical or social, as an individual and not a co-operative enterprise. That is, Piaget concentrates on intra-individual factors in the acquisition of knowledge at the expense of inter-individual factors. For example, Marti (1996) argues that Piaget's theory of development is effectively shut off from interpersonal dynamics and, as a result, symbolic mediation or interpsychological regulation is subordinated to the constraints of operatory, and hence, intrapsychological activity. For this reason Dunbar (1995) accuses Piaget of underestimating the degree to which the development of scientific knowledge its a social phenomenon.

Atkinson (1983) supports this and maintains that Piaget's primary concern is with the emergence in the individual of "valid forms of thought" (p.67). Atkinson (1983) contends that, for Piaget, the validity of a form of thought is something "intrinsic to that form and that it is connected with its degree of structure and organization" (p.67). In this way Atkinson argues that Piaget fails to take proper account of the social nature of objective knowledge. For

Atkinson, objective knowledge does not depend on any intrinsic features of the thought itself but refers to the openness of that thought to inspection and criticism from others. In other words, the possibility of objective knowledge rests on the possibility of interpersonal communication and shared social concepts. However, Atkinson argues that according to Piaget's theory the social nature of others does not constitute a feature of the environment until fairly late in development. Even then, the nature of others, according to Atkinson, can become an object of knowledge only by being viewed through schemata developed by the individual. Consequently, according to Atkinson, Piaget's theory assumes that the individual is affected by social or physical stimulation only to the extent that she first actively assimilates the stimulation to her own schemes or subjective mental structures. In this sense, Atkinson maintains that Piaget represents the gaining of knowledge as the result of an interaction between something which is objective (external environment) and something which is subjective (mental structure or schemata). That is, mental structures are subjective and have the origin in the subject's own consciousness. Thus, the basis of the structure of thought is the interiorisation of non-verbal, individual action in which the social has no role. Therefore, Piaget is accused of underestimating the role of social communication in cognitive development.

Haroutunian (1983) endorses the foregoing contention and argues that if the nature of experience depends on the features of the individual's schemata that are used to assimilate reality, as Piaget suggests, then there can be no common or socially shared experience. According to Haroutunian, Piaget's use of the phenocopy principle describes a feedback procedure that is internal to the system. That is, change or development occurs by "selecting options from a repertoire, trying them out, and judging whether they meet specified criteria" (Haroutunian, 1983, p.110). However, Haroutunian argues, unless some independent criteria

can be appealed to objectivity is impossible and a process of agreement cannot take place. In other words, unless a system can evaluate its conclusions against not only its own criteria but also criteria independent of itself, it cannot reach agreement proper. Haroutunian maintains that in Piaget's model every evaluation the system makes is based solely on its own criteria and, as Atkinson (1983) argues, one cannot simply develop ones own criteria for validity, truth and correctness. Therefore, Haroutunian (1983) contends that Piaget's model cannot account for how agreement between persons can be reached or how an individual can attain objective understanding. For Haroutunian, then, a major weakness of Piaget's genetic epistemology is its neglect of the inter-subjective nature of thought which makes objectivity and shared understanding possible.

Similarly, Hamlyn (1978) argues that Piaget's genetic epistemology does not explain how agreement between individuals comes about because "other people exist for the individual simply as part of the individual's environment, as objects, and not...co-subjects" (p.10) and, as a result, experience remains initially, as something "private and personal" (p.95). Therefore, Hamlyn argues that objectivity is construed by Piaget as a function of the human mind and not independent of it. For Hamlyn (1978), however, the notion of objectivity implies the possibility of agreement with others:

The acquisition of knowledge is in effect the initiation into a body of knowledge that others share or might in principle share. This is because the standards of what counts as knowledge...are interpersonal. The concepts of knowledge, truth and objectivity are social in the sense that they imply a framework of agreement on what counts as known, true and objective. (p.58-59)

Thus, Hamlyn poses a Wittgensteinian challenge to Piaget, namely, that knowledge presupposes criteria of truth and that knowledge or meaning must in principle be social since there can be no such thing as knowledge or truth without objective agreement between people.

That is, knowledge is at all times constituted by, and within, social processes. However, Hamlyn maintains, Piaget's genetic epistemology neglects this essentially inter-subjective context. Consequently, for Hamlyn (in Smith, 1982), Piaget's genetic epistemology is inadequate and provides at most necessary but not sufficient conditions of a subject's acquisition of knowledge. An adequate theory of development, according to Hamlyn (in Smith, 1982), should satisfy the following conditions of a subject's acquisition of knowledge:

(1) a subject who knows something knows it as true, which (2) presupposes his/her knowing what it is for something to be true, yet (3) possession of a concept of truth involves appreciation of the force of a norm, and (4) such appreciation implies correction by others which correction is seen as correction, so that (5) a subject's knowing something implies his/her seeing the source of the correction as a corrector. (p.174)

More importantly, this involves seeing the corrector as a person with certain intentions, desires and interests which implies, for Hamlyn (1974), a context of personal relations. Furthermore, Hamlyn (1982) contends that the very concept of a norm is social in origin. Indeed, an individual who had no form of contact with others could have no concept of a norm and *a fortiori* no conception of truth. Thus knowledge, for Hamlyn, may be acquired only by a subject who not only enjoys a social existence but who also knows that her world includes other subjects as well. Therefore, Hamlyn (1978) argues that a "purely biological model" (p.59), such as Piaget's, and the related epistemological claim that knowledge has its primary source in the individual is inadequate for an explanation of cognitive development.

#### 6. Omission of 'Culture'

Cole (1992), arguing from a Vygotskian perspective, accuses Piaget of underestimating the role of culture in development. Cole (1992) contends that although Piaget argued for the equal weight of endogenous (biological) and exogenous (environmental) factors in

development the interaction between the two takes place "between two juxtaposed forces" (p.8). Furthermore, Cole criticises Piaget's partitioning of the environment into social factors on the one hand and physical factors on the other. Cole maintains that human development is constituted within culture. That is, the interaction that Piaget posits between the individual and the environment (social and physical) is both mediated through and conditioned by an historically changing culture. Similarly, Toulmin (1981) objects to Piaget's focus on universal stages of development which ignores the fact that development is in part "a matter of socialization and enculturation – any particular child naturally ends up by reaching the 'stage' of collective development typical of its own culture and epoch" (p.257). In other words, Toulmin (1972) argues that Piaget's genetic epistemology cannot account for cultural diversity or historical change.

Ÿ

Harré (1986) and Ingleby (1986) extend this view and argue that Piaget's genetic epistemology neglects the social and cultural dimension of language. Following Wittgenstein, Harré (1986) suggests that all "human psychological functioning is the product of the language that a person has acquired" and, for this reason, development must be thought of "as much a collective as an individual phenomenon" (p.288). Ingleby (1986) endorses this and argues that human thought, perception and action must be approached in terms of meanings and the "vehicles of 'meanings' are codes (cspecially) language whose nature is inherently intersubjective" (p.305). Indeed, Sigel, (1981) argues that this interaction with others is a crucial component of cognitive development which Piaget's theory underplays. Ingleby (1986) contends that this is because, according to Piaget's theory, cognition develops out of action-schemes built up by the individual alone excluded from the context of joint or collective social action. Therefore, according to Ingleby, social relations, for Piaget, are factors which merely speed up or slow down the autonomous process of development.

Ingleby (1986) argues, however, that "mind is an intrinsically social phenomenon" (p.305) and cannot be understood outside its social, cultural and historical context. For this reason, Harré (1974) contends that we need to seek cultural, rather than biological, explanations for human development. The foregoing criticism applies particularly to social and moral development where Piaget is accused of presenting a subject who constructs social or moral thought on her own without being located in time, place or a social system (Buck-Morss and Riegel in Youniss, 1978). Specifically, Meacham (1975) argues that the moral development of the individual must be conceptualised within a cultural and historical context.

#### 7. The Focus on Egocentrism

Vygotsky (1962) maintains that Piaget gives insufficient attention to the social aspect of children's experience. Vygotsky's criticism focuses on the issue of egocentric speech.<sup>1</sup> For Vygotsky (1962),

[t]he primary function of speech, in both children and adults is communication, social contact. The earliest speech of the child is therefore essentially social...Egocentric speech emerges when the child transfers social, collaborative forms of behaviour to the sphere of inner-personal psychic functions...(p,19).

Therefore, Vygotsky maintains that the direction of development of thinking is from the social to the individual. For Piaget, however, children's thought is initially and naturally autistic or egocentric and only gradually becomes socialised. According to Vygotsky (1962), the "cornerstone" of Piaget's whole theory is the idea that "autism is the original, earliest form of thought: logic appears relatively late; and egocentric thought is the genetic link between them"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Piaget's ideas on egocentrism have been further criticised by Borke (1971; 1975; 1978), Butterworth (1987), Cohen (1983), Ford (1979), Hoffman (1976; 1981), Stuart (1967), and Waters and Tinsley (1985). These authors argue that very young children are not totally egocentric but have some capacity for responding empathetically to another person's perspective and point of view. This suggests, for these authors, that social interaction may play a more significant role in early childhood development than Piaget's genetic epistemology allows.

That is, development progresses in the direction from individual to social. By (p.13). contrast. Vygotsky argues that the basis of knowledge is to be found in the social world. Therefore, the child is never a solitary centre of consciousness, as Piaget's theory seems to imply. Rather, consciousness, for Vygotsky, is a function of the social order. For this reason Vygotsky proposes a developmental continuity between egocentric speech and verbal thought in the planning and regulation of action. In this way egocentric speech serves initially as a communication function on the interpsychological plane and only later is internalised as verbal thought on the intrapsychological plane. Furthermore, Vygotsky (1978) accuses Piaget. of treating the child's adaptive behaviour and sign-using activity as parallel phenomena and consequently overlooking the dialectical unity of these systems in human behaviour. As a result, Vygotsky contends that Piaget's genetic epistemology neglects the social and historical determinants of development. In addition, Vygotsky (1962) maintains that Piaget underestimates the important role of social mediation and education in the construction of knowledge.

### 8. The Exclusion of the Social in Research Experiments

A final group of critics argue that although Piaget paid some attention to social factors in his theoretical writings such attention is too general and insufficiently specific. For example, Butterworth (1982) criticises Piaget's structuralist approach to development and maintains that the role of specific types of experience in the elaboration of cognitive structures is left largely unexplored. According to Light (1986), Piaget's focus was on the individual's structuring of her own experience. Therefore, Light (1986) argues that the "local, historical, particular aspects of a child's situation and behaviour were treated by Piaget as merely obscuring competence, defined in terms of logicomathematical structures" (p.172). In other

words, social factors are bypassed in Piaget's empirical studies where children are individually interviewed about their understanding of logicomathematical concepts. Consequently, Brown and Reeve (1986) argue that Piaget's theory is a theory of performance on a finite set of tasks and not a theory of human minds at all. Damon (1983) suggests that this is because the primary empirical base for Piaget's theory of cognitive development is "the child's solitary attempt to master physical, logical, or scientific tasks in a laboratory setting" (p.103). Therefore, according to Damon, Piaget's focus remains almost exclusively on the child's active manipulation of the physical world. Consequently, Damon (1983) argues that Piaget's model of cognitive development draws "upon restricted data" (p.103) and he questions whether it is appropriate for describing the development of human cognition in all its forms. According to Darron, logicomathematical structures have limited applicability to other areas of understanding particularly the social domain. Furthermore, Donaldson (in Bornstein and Bruner, 1989) argues that the very nature of Piagetian conservation tasks are of a kind that makes them impermeable to adult assistance. Therefore, according to Donaldson (in Mercer, 1993), Piaget ignores the fact that empirical results are influenced by social and contextual cues carried implicitly within an experimental design or setting Thus, Butterworth (1993) argues that Piaget's experiments ignore contextual factors and their influence on cognitive development, while Light (1986) maintains that Piaget's research focuses on context free, formal structures and ignores the "real child's experience in specific social contexts" (p.185).

Ô

2.

Damon (1979), Light (1987), Glachan and Light (1982), and Doise and Mugny (1984) further argue that Piaget regarded the cognitive and social domains as being regulated by identical operations. Consequently the development of these operations had simultaneous repercussions in both domains. As a result, Piaget's genetic epistemology remains restricted

to the empirical study of correspondences or parallels between these developments and explicitly rejects the possibility of a causal intervention by the social in cognitive development. By contrast, Doise and Mugny (1984) argue that "social interactions are sources of cognitive progress" (p.168) and, therefore, cognition should be studied experimentally as a social construct. This is because, according to Doise and Mugny (in Damon, 1983), "conflicts of cognitive centrations embedded in a social situation are a more powerful factor in cognitive development than a conflict of individual centrations alone" (p.131). Light (1987) reinforces this and emphasises "the social interactional antecedents of cognitive development" (p.57). Glachan and Light (1982) acknowledge that in his early work Piaget did give a causal role to social experience in individual cognitive development but argue that he later abandoned this line of enquiry. Therefore, Doise and Mugny (1984) contend that although Piaget recognised the importance of social interaction, intelligence was never "explicitly studied as social" (p.21) in his experiments. Consequently, Doise and Mugny maintain that in Piaget's genetic epistemology a gap exists between the general ideas put forward regarding the social nature of intelligence and the empirical research carried out to clarify them. Thus, Doise and Mugny conclude that it is the experimental study of the effect of social interaction (introduced as an independent variable) and cognitive development (considered as a dependent variable) that is missing from Piaget's genetic epistemology.

The above critics maintain, then, that Piaget did not adequately incorporate social factors into his experiments and, as a result, studied intelligence almost exclusively as a characteristic of an asocial individual. Therefore they maintain that a fundamental discrepancy exists in Piaget's genetic epistemology between the claims made and the empirical evidence generated to support these claims.

Notwithstanding the different foci of the criticisms of Piaget's genetic epistemology presented above it will be obvious that there is a general consensus within the research literature that Piaget either (a) failed to include the 'social', or (b) provided an inadequate account of the 'social' in his theorising and research. While it is not possible to address each of the specific criticisms in detail I believe that there is sufficient evidence in Piage's numerous writings to countenance the claims that he failed to include the 'social' in his theorising. Furthermore, I contend, Piaget's conception of the 'social' is not only comparable to but may even complement the 'generally accepted' view of the 'social' provided by Vygotsky (1962; 1978). To establish the accuracy of the foregoing assertions the next part of this research report will be devoted to an exposition of Piaget's genetic epistemology with special reference to his conception of the 'social' in the development of cognition.

# The 'Social' in Piaget's Genetic Epistemology

This section will be divided into two major parts. The first will be devoted to a brief exposition of Piaget's genetic epistemology. More specifically, I will analyse Piaget's views on the relation between sociology and psychology and the significance of this relation for genetic epistemology as a whole; his conceptualisation of society as a system of relations; and knowledge as a relation. In this way, I will show that Piaget's genetic epistemology provides a social-relational view of development and his interactive, constructivist perspective necessarily includes the 'social'. The initial section of the discussion will provide an organising framework for a more detailed discussion of Piaget's conceptualisation of the role of the 'social' in the equilibration process; the construction of logic; and moral and affective development respectively.

### 1. Piaget's Genetic Epistemology

According to Piaget (1971) genetic epistemology is the study of *both* the transitions "from a lower level of knowledge to a level that is judged to be higher" (p.13) and "the mechanisms of the increase of knowledge" (in Kitchener, 1981a, p.402). In order to 'discover' the mechanisms of the increase of knowledge and thereby explain the growth of knowledge Piaget based his method of investigation on a biological model of comparative anatomy and, therefore, genetic epistemology can be conceptualised as a "mental comparative anatomy" (Kitchener, 1986, p.150). Piaget saw an essential similarity between "biological structure/function and epistemological structure/function" (Kitchener, 1981a, p.404) and contends that in biology comparative anatomy uses two methods. In order to discover the commonalities between individuals (or what is general to a species) one can either look for

similarities in adults of that species, or one can look at individual development within that species for evidence of characteristics that are general. Similarly, and by analogy, Piaget suggests that there are two comparable mothods available to a mental comparative anatomy (genetic epistemology) (Kitchener, 1981a). It can study "the evolutionary structural relations between certain concepts (eg., number, space, time, physical quantity) in such a way as to map their structural relations over time" (Kitchener, 1981a, p.404). That is, the historical origins and development (historiogenesis/sociogenesis) of the structural relationships between those concepts that Kant considered to be necessary for scientific thought (Bagus, 1992). This is the historico-critical method.

However, Kitchener (1981a) points out that this method is not sufficient by itself and must be supplemented by a "mental embryology or psychogenesis" (p.407) which would investigate the development of the above mentioned Kantian concepts in the individual. Such an investigation requires genetic psychological research and, therefore, Piaget (1971) emphasises that it is imperative for genetic epistemology "to take psychology seriously" (p.9). Although much of Piaget's work focuses on psychogenesis, genetic epistemology "is not reducible to, or identifiable with, the development of intelligence in the individual" (Kaplan, 1971, p.66). As Piaget (1971) suggests "I do not want to give the impression that genetic epistemology is based exclusively on psychology [but that] psychological experimentation is indispensable to shed light on certain epistemological problems" (p.10). Thus, genetic psychological research is not "an end in itself but is intended to provide answers to questions about genetic epistemology" (Kitchener, 1986, p.27). In the process of this research Piaget constructed a psychological theory of cognitive development (Kitchener, 1986).

Although this research was conducted with 'real' individuals Piaget's goal was not to study the acquisition of particular, individual knowledge but rather to study "the development of the necessary conditions of thought and knowledge [in order to determine a] form or structure of knowledge which is universal" (in Kitchener, 1981a, p.408). For this reason Piaget makes a distinction between the epistemic subject and the individual subject (Kitchener, 1981a). Piaget conceives of the epistemic subject as "an abstract, ideal knower assumed to be exemplified by every normal individual" (Kitchener, 1986, p.26) and genetic epistemology is essentially concerned with the "psychogenesis of the fundamental categories of thought in the epistemic subject from infancy to adulthood" (Kitchener, 1981a, p.409).

Genetic epistemology consists, then, of both the historico-critical method and psychogenesis. As Piaget (1971) puts it "[g]enetic epistemology attempts to explain knowledge, and in particular scientific knowledge, on the basis of its history, its sociogenesis, and especially the psychological origins of the notions and operations upon which it is based" (p.1). The historico-critical method provides both the history of specific concepts as well as an analysis of the relationships between concepts which, in turn, provides the groundwork for the study of the development of these concepts psychologically. As such, Piaget contends that the explanatory mechanisms involved in the domains of historiogenesis and psychological research on the origins and development of the Kantian concepts in the individual apply equally to the historical origins and development of the structural relationships between these concepts. Having established the nature and scope of genetic epistemology it is necessary to discuss the 'mechanisms' for the increase of knowledge.

Following from the biological presuppositions mentioned above Piaget suggests that all development has a direction or orthogenesis which is an intrinsic tendency towards greater equilibrium (Kitchener, 1981a). This applies not only to biological evolution but also to individual psychological development and socio-historical development. That is, the process of equilibrium operates on the biological and psychological level simultaneously and, therefore. Piaget claims that psychological equilibrium is "rooted in (and somehow isomorphic to) biological equilibrium" (Kitchener, 1981a, p.412). For Piaget (1976) organic and cognitive equilibrium are the same forms of equilibrium in the sense that cognitive organisation is an extension of the living organism. Therefore, Piaget believes that similar organisational principles apply to both levels of development (Chapman, 1988). As Piaget (1972a) puts it "self-regulation seems to constitute one of the most universal characteristics of life as well as the most general mechanisms common to organic and cognitive reactions" (p.61). In other words, Piaget saw an essential similarity or parallel between biological and epistemological adaptation since the common mechanism at work in both processes is the mechanism of equilibration (Bagus, 1992). Consequently, the processes of assimilation, accommodation, equilibrium, and equilibration used to explain the biological adaptation of organisms to a changing environment are seen, by Piaget, as operating on the epistemological level (Bagus, 1992). That is, "the epistemic mechanisms of assimilation, accommodation, equilibrium and equilibration are responsible for the increase of knowledge and the transition from a lower to a higher level of knowledge in the epistemic subject" (Bagus, 1992, p.26) [emphasis my addition]. Using these internal, psychological (epistemic) mechanisms "the knowing subject actively constructs its own knowledge" (Bagus, 1992, p.26) and cognitive development proceeds, for Piaget, in terms of a series of epistemic stages which appear in an invariant and sequential order due to the basic principle of equilibration (Kitchener, 1986). Thus, Piaget's theory of equilibration or self-regulation provides the 'mechanism' for

explaining epistemic transformations and "is to be understood as the reason for the development of knowledge" (Moessinger, 1978, p.260).

With respect to developmental transitions from one form of knowledge to another Piaget (1960; 1964; 1968; 1969; 1970a; 1985) identifies four explanatory factors, namely, maturation, the physical environment, the social environment and equilibration. Piaget (1964) argues that the first three are necessary but not sufficient for the generation of new knowledge and, consequently, Piaget (1960) emphasises the importance of the equilibration process in addition to environmental influences. Indeed, Smith (1982) suggests that equilibration is a factor whose presence is a sufficient condition for the presence of the other three factors. Therefore, Smith (1987) maintains that although Piaget's genetic epistemology includes a social element this must be taken as "one necessary condition of the growth of knowledge" (p.213) because the social dimension alone is not sufficient to account for human development. Piaget (1964) echoes this and suggests that the social dimension is inadequate on its own as an explanation of development because a child needs to have the necessary structures to start with, which will enable her to assimilate social information.

#### a). Psychology, Sociology and Genetic Epistemology

Although Piaget's genetic epistemology is based on a biological model of comparative anatomy Kitchener (1978) emphasises that, for Piaget, "cognition is as social as it is biological" (p.157). As Piaget (1933/1995)<sup>2</sup> suggests "everything in the individual is always at once biological, psychological, and social [and] intellectual development, from birth, is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Piaget's (1995) <u>Sociological Studies</u> is a collection of nine papers written during the period 1928-1960. The original dates of the respective papers have a significant bearing on my argument regarding the role of the 'social' in the development of logic. Therefore, for purposes of interest and consistency, I have included the original publication details whenever I reference this work.

simultaneously the work of society and of the individual" (p.216). Therefore, Piaget (1928) maintains that the "psychology of thought is always faced...with two fundamental factors...,the biological factor, and the social factor" (p.201). Indeed, Elkind (1968) argues that genetic epistemology is essentially a multidisciplinary science. However, Piaget does not conceive of the sciences as related to one another in a reductionist linear way but rather in a circular way (Kitchener, 1981a). Thus, psychology and sociology, including the history of social development, are inseparable and each studies the individual from a different but complementary perspective. For Piaget (1950/1995), then, "the very object of sociological knowledge is of vital interest to [genetic] epistemology, since human knowledge is essentially collective, and social life constitutes an essential factor in the creation and growth of knowledge, both pre-scientific and scientific" (p.30). Therefore, Piaget (in Chapman, 1988) recognises a close parallel between the epistemological problems of sociology and those of psychology and contends that

genetic epistemology, which studies the growth of knowledge from the dual viewpoint of both its psychological formation and of its historical evolution, depends as much on sociology as on psychology – the sociogenesis of the different forms of knowledge being neither more nor less important than its psychogenesis, since these are two inseparable aspects of any existing formation. (Piaget, 1950/1995, p.35)

Piaget and Inhelder (1969) maintain that this interdependence of sociogenesis and psychogenesis is particularly marked in the field of child psychology and, therefore, "[c]hild psychology, in its search for factors of development cannot be limited to a study of biological maturation. Other, equally important factors are to be considered – exercise or acquired experience as well as social life in general" (p.viii). Consequently, the psychological study of the child cannot be separated from sociology. Indeed, Piaget (1950/1995) suggests that since "the sociogenesis of notions is occurring at the core of psychogenesis from the earliest stages

of development, it is obvious that the influence of sociogenesis will increase progressively...in the later stages" (p.38).

Furthermore. Piaget (1957; 1981b) emphasises that children's understanding of social relations itself undergoes development and change. This is made explicit by Piaget (1962) when he asserts that "the social factor is for us a fact to be explained, not to be invoked as an extra-psychological factor" (p.4). For Piaget (1962), then, the question that arises is "why and how the child is influenced at certain definite moments by this or that social action" (p.4). In this way Piaget (1962) maintains that "the functional unity of the development which leads from sensory-motor to operational intelligence [can] be seen through successive individual or social structures" (p.4). Thus, although Piaget (1962) states that his study of the beginnings of representation in the child emphasises "those fields where the individual processes of mental life dominate the collective factors" (p.2), I contend that Piaget never loses sight of the social dimension. As Piaget (1933/1995) suggests it is necessary to isolate the individual pole from its complementary social pole in order to show that the logic of the child, because it is less socialised, is less rational than that of adults. Plaget and Garcia (1989) argue that this dissociation of the individual and the social pole is necessary in order to expose the "internal laws which regulate the dialectical interaction between objects that get incorporated into knowledge and the cognitive instruments which make this incorporation possible" (p.246). Furthermore, Piaget and Garcia (1989) go on to suggest that "in order to arrive at a total synthesis that can serve as an explanatory schema for the interpretation of the evolution of knowledge both at the level of the individual and that of social evolution" (p.246) the 'social' must be invoked as an explanatory factor in development. Therefore, Piaget (1933/1995) admits that this is an "artificial dissociation" since the "individual never presents himself in a pure state, and a child is dual...oscillating endlessly between the social and egocentrism"

(p.226). Clearly, then, for Piaget, an individual psychology is inadequate to account for the sociological dimension (sociology is not reducible to psychology) but a social psychology or inter-individual psychology can accomplish such a task (Kitchener, 1981b).

#### b). The Social-Relational View of Development

Apostel (1986), Chapman (1988), Cole and Wertsch (1996), Furth (1980; 1983; 1986), Kitchener (1981b; 1985; 1996), Mays (1982), and Youniss (1978; 1981; 1983) interpret Piaget's genetic epistemology as providing a relational approach to the development of knowledge, and more particularly, social knowledge. Kitchener (1996) contrasts Piaget's psychological relationalism with psychological holism and psychological individualism and suggests that it is the crucial role of relations between individuals that distinguishes Piaget's position from the latter two. According to Piaget (1941/1995) all social facts are reducible to social relations and these, in turn, are reducible to rules, values and signs which correspond respectively to the cognitive, affective and symbolic aspects of individual behaviour. Therefore, Kitchener (1985) maintains that according to Piaget's genetic epistemology "it is the set of relations that are primary and the relata-the individuals-that are secondary" (p.245). As Piaget (1928/1995) puts it "there are neither individuals as such nor society as such. There are just inter-individual relations" (p.210) and both parts (individuals) and wholes (society) are constructed from these relations. Consequently, society, for Piaget (1981b), is to be explained in terms of the relations between individuals and not merely in terms of the nonrelational properties of individuals. The key to this interpretation is to be found in Piaget's (1986) autobiography where he states that "at all levels (viz., that of the living cell, organism, species, society, etc., but also with reference to states of conscience, to concepts, to logical principles,
etc.) one finds the same problem of **relationship** between the parts and the whole" (p.242) [emphasis my addition].

Piaget not only espouses the concept of a social system as "a nexus of relation ships" (Mays, 1982, p.31) but he defines knowledge itself as a relation. For Piaget (in Bringuier, 1980), "[i]ntelligence is an adaptation to the external environment" (p.114) and, therefore, Furth (1980) argues that his model of equilibrium emphasises the implicit relations inherent in all knowing since "the primary given in all forms of knowledge (including action) is the coordinations of relation between subject and object and between observation and inferred knowledge" (p.60). More specifically, Piaget views knowledge as a "constructive relation that is productive of both the subject and object" (Furth, 1980, p.57). As Piaget (1970a) puts it "[k]nowledge...at its origin, neither arises from objects nor from the subject, but from interactions...between the subject and those objects [and] *construction*...is the natural consequence of the interactions" (p.704) [emphasis in original]. Thus, it is in a combination of interaction with the environment (physical or social) and progressive internal organisation arising from self-regulations that development occurs.

I contend that Piaget's (1970a) definition of knowledge as a constructive relation is crucial for understanding his conceptualisation of the role of the social in development. For example, Piaget and Garcia (1989) suggest that the child does not assimilate 'pure' objects defined by their physical parameters only. As Furth (1980) points out the object is primarily the reality as defined by society and concretely lived by the people who make up the society. In other words one cannot consider "the development of the subject facing objects that are already 'given', independent of any social context. Rather, in the dialectical interaction between subject and object, the latter appears immersed within a network of [social] relations" (Piaget and Garcia, 1989, p.266). Therefore, Piaget and Garcia argue that genetic epistemology necessarily includes the social in that it needs to explain in what ways assimilation remains conditioned (or generated) by a particular social system of meanings and to what extent the interpretation of each particular experience depends on such meanings. Consequently, I maintain that, for Piaget, the 'social' is a constituting factor of the physical environment within which development takes place and the child's knowledge of physical reality necessarily incorporates a social dimension.

Furthermore, if, as Piaget (1950/1995) suggests, the relation between the subject and object modifies both subject and object at the same time through assimilation of the object to the subject and accommodation of the subject to the object respectively, then, "it is obvious a *fortiori* that each interaction between individual subjects will modify each subject in relation to the other" (p.42). In other words, the interaction with the environment (social or physical) is not a one-way process. Rather, as Bovet, Parrat-Dayan and Voneche (1989) point out, the relation is transactional and modifies the individual in a permanent way. This is particularly true of social exchange and social interaction between individuals. For instance, Piaget (1981b) states that "society, even more, in a sense, than the physical environment changes the very structure of the individual" (p.156).

Moreover, since the 'object' of psychosocial knowledge is, in fact, another subject it follows that actions inevitably generate contact with other people as well as with physical objects and, therefore, construction must "pertain to *interpersonal interaction*" (Youniss, 1981, p.192) as well as interactions between subject and object [emphasis in original]. As Piaget (1951/1995) puts it "development is at every level a socialization of the individual as it is a matter of the individual's adaptation to the physical world" (p.276). Thus, Youniss (1981) maintains that in

Piaget's genetic epistemology "[s]ocialization is inherent in the definition of child as agent through the process of construction" (p.194). Indeed, since development, for Piaget, is of relations per se, individuality "is checked early in development through one's relational membership" (Youniss, 1983, p.223) and what is conserved is a "certain scheme of interaction with other people" (Piaget, 1981a, p.50). In this way Piaget's perspective permits individuality on the grounds that social relational existence is its constituting factor (Youniss, 1983). Therefore, Chapman (1988) maintains that Piaget's view of social development can be described as an "interpersonal relationism" (p.370). This is because "the characteristic process of the 'progress of thought' [is that of] forming systems of reciprocal relations" (Piaget, 1977a, p.276) and, without social life, the child "would be ignorant of relations in general" (Piaget, 1930, p.252).

However, Piaget and Inhelder (1969) emphasise that the term 'social' must not be thought of in the narrow sense of "educational, cultural, or moral transmission alone; rather, it covers an interpersonal process of socialization which is at once cognitive, affective, and moral" (p.95). That is, socialisation, for Piaget, refers to the process by which children come to consider social norms and the viewpoints of others "*in their own thinking*" (Chapman, 1988, p.232) [emphasis in original]. Consequently, Piaget and Inhelder (1969) contend that socialisation "is a structuration to which the individual contributes as much as he receives from it" (p.154). For this reason Piaget (1981b) does not speak of the "effect of social life" but rather of the "individual modified by social relations" (p.157). Neither does Piaget (1933/1995) look to social factors as a cause of rationality but rather to the social circumstances that will permit the "rational equilibrium immanent in the individual to further realize itself" (p.266).  $\langle \rangle$ 

Thus, knowledge, for Piaget, is not simply social because it is about social objects and persons (Youniss, 1981). It is social in its very formation and objective, namely, "to gain order in the meeting of self with other" (Youniss, 1981, p.194). In other words, the construction of social reality is, for Piaget, by necessity a process of co-construction (Furth, 1986). Indeed, Piaget (1932; 1970a; 1981b) repeatedly states that an individual may acquire knowledge (physical or social) only if people enter into social relations with that individual. However, Kitchener (1981b) points out that, for Piaget, any social influence, just like any environmental influence in general, must be mediated via structures that are constructed by the individual. As Piaget (1950/1995) puts it

between organic maturation which furnishes mental potentialities, but without ready-made psychological structuring, and social transmission which furnishes the elements and the model for a possible construction, though without imposing this in a completed state, there occurs an operatory construction which transforms the potentialities furnished by the nervous system into mental structures. But this translation only takes place as a function of the interaction between individuals, and therefore under the accelerating or delaying influence of differing actual modes of social interaction. (p.37)

Thus, Piaget's genetic epistemology allows at all times for "self-construction and social influence" (Youniss, 1978, p.234) and, as Furth (1980) suggests, the common link between society and knowledge (physical and social) is to be found in the concept of relation since knowledge, like society, is an equilibration of relations. Therefore I maintain that Piaget's relational-constructivist approach to the development of knowledge emphasises the social quality inherent in all individual knowledge (whether physical or social).

#### 2. The Role of the 'Social' in Genetic Epistemology

#### a). The 'Social' in the Equilibration Process

Piaget's theory of adaptation as a spiral of assimilation and accommodation implies an openness to the influence of both the physical and social environment since "cognitive equilibration involves not only equilibration between subject and object, but also equilibration between subjects" (Chapman, 1992, p.50). Piaget (1950/1995) confirms this by suggesting that

[a]part from organic factors, which influence the mechanisms of action interiorly, all behaviour in fact presupposes two sorts of interaction which modify it exteriorly and are inseparable from each other: the interaction between subject and object, and the interaction between subject and other subjects. (p.41)

This equilibration or interaction between subjects occurs very early in development because "interpersonal relations germinate as of the second half of the first year, thanks to imitation, since imitation is closely linked to sensorimotor development" (Piaget, 1968, p.18). Indeed, Piaget (1977b) describes imitation as the child's earliest form of intentional communication with other people and suggests that "assimilation and imitation are not only reactions to the physical environment, but also to the social environment" (Piaget, 1936, 5290) and, therefore, imitation essentially becomes "adaptation to others" (ibid, p.290). Furthermore, since imitation, according to Piaget (1962), "fits into the general framework of the sensory-motor adaptations which characterize the construction of intelligence" (p.84) and the very concept of accommodation is inherently linked to imitation from the first year of life, I contend that imitation can be conceived of as an element of the equilibratory process. Piaget (1957) maintains that the co-ordination of sensorimotor assimilation and accommodation is essential for development since it "leads the subject to go outside himself to solidify and objectify his

35

C

universe to the point where he is able to include himself in it while continuing to assimilate it to himself" (p.357). Piaget (1960/1995) emphasises that this equilibratory process occurs in the context of interpersonal imitation since "knowledge or consciousness of the self...is not innate but results specifically from social or imitative exchange through simultaneous construction of the *alter* and *ego*" (p.300) [emphasis in original]. That is, "consciousness of the self results from a dissociation of realit... [and this] dissociation is due to social factors" (Piaget, 1951, p.130) or, more specifically, to a distinction the child makes between her own point of view and those of others. Thus, "consciousness of self implies a perpetual comparison of the self with others" (Piaget, 1932, p.400). Clearly, then, the "formation of the self isconnected to early interpersonal relationships and especially to imitation" (Piaget, 1985, p.76) since we become conscious of ourselves only "to the extent that we are adapted to other people" (Piaget, 1928, p.210).

Moreover, Piaget (1968) maintains that there is a close correlation between the construction of the permanent object and awareness of self. Piaget suggests that the construction of the object is, in itself, a new logical achievement of separating the object of knowledge from the object of action which requires a cognitive decentering on the part of the child (Furth, 1986). In addition, Piaget and Inhelder (1969) point out that "the decentering which is a prerequisite for the formation of operations applies not only to the physical universe...but also necessarily to an interpersonal or social universe" (p.95) and they are, in fact, parallel processes. Consequently, Piaget (1985) contends that "object permanence goes hand in hand with the permanence of people. In fact, people are the first permanent objects" (p.76). Thus, the very act of imitating others and "thereby objectifying his own self...is...an important factor for the child in the objectification of his universe" (Piaget, 1933/1995, p.221).

From the foregoing it is obvious that the achievement of object permanence, through the process of equilibration, is a product of interpersonal interaction or, more specifically, of imitation. Thus, two of the major equilibratory achievements of sensorimotor development, namely, the construction of the permanent object and the formation of the self occur within the context of social interaction. Consequently, I maintain that the decentering of cognitive constructions necessary "for operations to continue the actions from which they derive" (Piaget, 1950/1995, p.71) is essentially a socially driven equilibratory process.

Piaget (1970a) maintains that as imitation gradually becomes differentiated and interiorized into images, it becomes the source of symbols and the instrument of communicative exchange. In other words, imitation, for Piaget (1962), is the means by which the child becomes capable of cognitive representation. Thus, "imitation becomes the instrument for the acquisition of an indefinite number of collective signifiers which in turn give rise to a whole series of socialized representations" (Piaget, 1962, p.280). The ability for symbolic and representational thought represents a further major achievement in cognitive development. For example, Piaget (1945/1995) contends that

complete reversibility presupposes symbolism, because it is only by reference to the possible evocation of absent objects that the assimilation of things to action schemes and the accommodation of action schemes to things reach a permanent equilibrium and thus constitute a reversible mechanism. (p.154)

Moreover, Piaget (1928/1995) emphasises that "without socialization, individual thought can hardly do those things analogous to symbolic thought" (p.195) which suggests that the cognitive equilibrium that results from symbolic and representational thought has its roots in social interaction. Therefore, Piaget makes a stronger case for social interaction as a fundamental constructive influence than he does for representation in that representation and the detachment of one's own action are essentially underpinned by adaptation to others and

social co-operation (Sinclair, 1982). For instance, Piaget (1957) contends that "the plane of representative thought...is at the same time that of social relationships or coordination among individual minds" (p.380). Indeed, Piaget appears to attribute explanatory power to social interaction with regard to the constitution of the representational function and, consequently, social interaction becomes the reason for the transition from action to representation (Sinclair, 1982).

Piaget's purpose in tracing the continuity between sensorimotor development and cognitive representation was to describe this essentially interpersonal developmental preparation for collective symbolism (Chapman, 1988). As Piaget and Inhelder (1969) suggest language "is necessarily acquired in the context of imitation" (p.55). In other words, language is preceded by and finds its source in collaboration and interpersonal exchange in action. With the appearance of language Piaget (1981a) argues that intellectual behaviour is profoundly m lifted since language makes possible "indefinite extensions of intelligent adaptation" (p.44). The most obvious result of the appearance of language, for Piaget (1968), is to permit verbal exchanges and continuous communication among individuals and "thought becomes conscious to the degree to which the child is able to communicate it" (p.19). Therefore, Piaget (1968) contends that language is indispensable for the further development of thought<sup>3</sup> because without it

the operations would remain at the stage of successive actions without ever being integrated into simultaneous systems or simultaneously encompassing a set of independent transformation [and] the operations would remain personal and would consequently not be regulated by interpersonal exchange and cooperation. (p.98)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Piaget (1968) emphasises that thought does not depend on language. Rather thought derives from the abstraction of one's own actions upon things. That is, action is the basis of thought for Piaget.

Thus, language is "necessary for the completion of logical structures, particularly in their formal aspect" (Piaget, 1960/1995, p.307). Clearly, then, the constructive power of language lies in its communicative aspect. Furthermore, Piaget (1950/1995) argues that the progressive construction of intellectual operations, through the use of language, "presupposes a growing interdependence between mental factors and inter-individual interactions" (p.38). In other words, with the acquisition of language, the role of the social in cognitive development is augmented. I maintain that, since language is a social convention and both language and representational thought "have sensorimotor precursors in the form of interpersonal imitation and not merely in interaction with physical objects" (Chapman, 1988, p.372), development can be conceived of as an essentially socially generated equilibratory process. In other words, the 'social' is a necessary condition for the process of equilibration.

However, Piaget (1945/1995) emphasises that the achievement of equilibrium is dependent on a particular type of social relationship. Piaget (1932) distinguishes between two types of social relationships, namely, relations of constraint and relations of co-operation. Relations of constraint are asymmetrical and lead to heteronomous knowledge and, since they typically occur in adult-child interactions, engender a unilateral respect for authority. This is because in relations of constraint shared understanding is restricted since it does not involve co-operative construction. Indeed, Piaget (1933/1995) argues that the "constraint exercised over the individual reinforces his egocentrism" (p.220). Therefore, Piaget (1945/1995) maintains that the equilibrium obtained in relations of constraint constitutes a "false equilibrium" (p.150) and, consequently, this type of relationship can only result, for Piaget, in unstable internal regulations rather than in stable operations and co-operations (DeVries, 1997).

According to Piaget (1933/1995) this "latent disequilibrium" (p.240) is ended by co-operation. This is possible because co-operation "furnishes a method" for interacting whereas constraint merely "imposes beliefs" (Piaget, 1928/1995, p.208) and, consequently, "cooperation is not a system in static equilibrium as one finds in constraint; it is a mobile equilibrium" (ibid, p.209) [emphasis in original]. Therefore, Piaget (1932) argues that co-operation is a higher form of equilibrium and "is the form of equilibrium to which constraint is tending" (p.96). As such, Piaget (1986) contends that ideal or true equilibrium pertains to co-operation between individuals who become autonomous by this very co-operation. Piaget (1951/1995) describes autonomy not as independent thought but as thought which has social validation, "the conquest of personal autonomy is a function of reciprocity which implies simultaneously both differentiation and coordination of points of view" (p.283). With respect to development Piaget proposes that the process of equilibration is productive of social understanding to a greater extent in peer than in adult-child relations (Furth, 1980). Therefore, Piaget (1926) argues that peer relations are both qualitatively different and superior to adult-child interaction in facilitating cognitive growth and, consequently, they acquire a growing genetic importance in childhood development. This is because peer relations allow views to be submitted to procedures that follow the norms of reciprocity and discussion. That is, they are based on mutual respect or mutuality. Clearly, then, social life, in the form of co-operation, is necessary if the individual is "to transform into norms properly so called the simple functional equilibria immanent to all mental and even all vital activity" (Piaget, 1932, p.400).

Furthermore, the 'social' in the form of co-operation is necessary for the achievement of an equilibrated intellectual exchange. Piaget's equilibration model of social exchange offers three conditions whose satisfaction is both necessary (Piaget, 1945/1995) and sufficient (Piaget, 1950/1995) for successful exchange, namely,

(a) a common currency or unit of exchange between two partners (which can be persons, groups, or societies) and typically manifest as shared signs and meanings; (b) conservation, in that each element in the system is used in a self-identical way through the exchange; (c) reciprocity, in that each partner uses the same elements of the same system in the same way. (Smith, 1996, p.119)

Thus, conservation (implying reversibility) and reciprocity, two necessary conditions for equilibration, have a fundamental role to play in Piaget's (1950/1995) account of social exchange and, as I have shown, co-operation is an important factor in their development. As Piaget (1950/1995) suggests "the isolated individual would never be capable of complete conservation and reversibility [and] reciprocity is only possible between subjects capable of equilibrated thought, i.e., of the conservation and reversibility imposed by exchange" (p.94). For this reason Piaget (1960) emphasises that "the progressive organization of interindividual reciprocities and that of operational reciprocities in the field of thought certainly constitutes two correlated phenomena" (p.20). Indeed, Piaget (1941/1995) contends that it is precisely in the reciprocity of values exchanged that the system (whether individuals, groups or societies) achieves equilibrium. In other words, the state of equilibrium, as defined by Piaget's conditions above, are dependent on and presuppose the existence of a social situation of autonomous co-operation based on equality and reciprocity between partners.

Moreover, Piaget (1981b) maintains that the above conditions are as much social obligations as they are conditions of operatory thought which implies, in turn, that social co-operation is a necessary antecedent for the achievement of "operational equilibrium" (Piaget, 1951/1995, p.280). Piaget and Inhelder (1969) confirm this by suggesting that

> the operations always involve a possibility of exchange, of interpersonal as well as personal coordination, and this cooperative aspect constitutes an indispensable condition for the objectivity, internal coherence (that is, their "equilibrium"), and universality of these operatory structures. (p.95).

More importantly, Piaget claims that if the above conditions are met interlocutors may arrive at a new, equilibrated level of understanding that is related to what both individuals brought to the discussion (Tudge and Winterhoff, 1993). Consequently, I maintain that an equilibrated intellectual social exchange, achieved through interpersonal co-operation, is necessary for the generation of new knowledge. That is, relations of co-operation, incorporating symmetrical reciprocity and mutual respect amongst equals, are the basic means for achieving equilibrated knowledge. As Piaget (1928/1995) suggests "only cooperation provides for the mind the psychological condition necessary for the attainment of truth" (p.208). Thus, I contend that Piaget's model of social exchange emphasises the inter-dependence of social and individual contributions in the search for true knowledge and the formation of rationality. Similarly, I support Kitchener's (1981b) contention that "the social dimension is essential for the development of equilibrium and (in particular) that certain kinds of social relations (namely, cooperation) is a necessary condition for the development of the equilibrated structures found in social exchange and formal thinking" (p.264) [emphasis in original].

# b). The 'Social' in the Construction of Logic

Beilin (1992), Chapman (1986; 1992), DeVries (1997), Furth (1986), Lourenco and Machado (1996) and Murray (1983) point out that Piaget's conceptualisation of the role of the 'social' in the construction of logic changed as his theory developed. For example, Piaget (1986) states that in his early research he satisfied his "need for an explanation in terms of structures-of-the-whole by studying the social aspect of thought (which is a necessary aspect, I still believe, of the formation of logical operations as such)" (p.247). Consequently, Piaget (1926; 1928; 1928/1995; 1930; 1932) considers social factors as having a causal relation to the development of logic and insists that "social life is a necessary condition for the development of logic." (Piaget 1928/1995, p.210). More specifically, Piaget (1932) argues that co-operation

is the determining factor in the formation of the rational elements in logic because it is only social life and discussion, in the form of co-operation, that leads to "the logical point of view" (Piaget, 1926, p.238) and away from egocentrism. In other words, "the norm of reason, and...the important norm of reciprocity, the source of the logic of relations, can only develop in and through cooperation" (Piaget, 1932, p.107). In particular, Piaget maintains that co-operation and reciprocity amongst peers provides the psychological foundation for perspective taking and cognitive decentering, two necessary conditions for the construction of operatory logic (DeVries, 1997). Piaget (1928) argues further that logic originates precisely because the "social need to share the thought of others and to communicate our own with success is at the root of our need for verification (p.204). That is, logical proof and deduction are the direct result of discussion in the social domain which implies, for Piaget (1930), that the source of the idea of necessity is in social interaction.

However, after Piaget developed his theory of operations this early focus on communicative interaction as the main factor responsible for the formation of logic changed to one where the operative component of interactions played that role (Lourenco and Machado, 1996). As such, Piaget no longer attributed a causal role to social factors in the construction of logic (DeVries, 1997). Consequently, Piaget (1945/1995) asks the question "if logic consists of an organization of operations which, in the final analysis, are internalized and reversible actions, does the individual arrive at this organization by himself, or is the intervention or interpersonal factors necessary to explain [logical] development"? (p.143) In order to answer this question Piaget (1950/1995) identifies four stages in the construction of logic and concludes that "each progress in logic is equivalent, in a non-dissociable way, to progress in the socialization of thought" (p.85). More specifically, Piaget (1968) contends that "when the mind goes beyond its immediate point of view in order to "group" relations, it attains a state of

coherence and noncontradiction paralleled by cooperation on the social plane" (p.54). In other words, for every stage in the development of logic there is a corresponding advance in the child's capacity for understanding and co-operating with others. Moreover, Piaget (1945/1995) maintains that this correlation is a necessary one, because "the social relationships equilibrated into cooperation constitute *groupements* of operations exactly like the logical actions exercised on the external world by the individual" (p.146). That is, the cognitive structures characteristic of concrete and formal operations do not consist merely of a grouping of physical actions, but also of possible viewpoints. As Piaget (1945/1995) suggests "a 'groupement' is a system of concepts (classes or relations) implying a coordination of points of view and a pooling of thought" (p.145). Thus, every "grouping within individuals is a system of operations, and co-operation consists of the system of operations executed in common" (Piaget, 1981b, p.166). However, Piaget emphasises that "the operations of cooperation are created by the exchange and not just by individual thought" (DeVries, 1997, p.11). In this sense

9

the groupement is only a system of possible substitutions either within a single individual's thought (operations of intelligence) or within thought exchanges from one individual to another (cooperation). These two sorts of substitutions constitute, therefore, a general logic, at once collective and individual, that characterizes the forms of equilibrium common to cooperative as well as to individual actions. (Piaget, 1945/1995, p.154-155)

Consequently, the interiorised action of logical thinking is, for Piaget, as much an individual adaptation as it is social co-operation (Furth, 1986). Piaget (1981b) confirms this by suggesting that internal logical activity and external co-operation are merely "two complementary aspects of one and the same whole since the equilibrium of the one depends on that of the other" (p.166).

Furthermore, since equilibrated logical thought presupposes co-operative social exchange it follows that "in order to make the individual capable of constructing *groupements*, it is first necessary to attribute to him all the qualities of a socialized person" (Piaget, 1945/1995, p.154). This is even more evident at the level of formal operations where Piaget (1950/1995) argues that

even the exchange of proposition constitutes a logic, since it entails the grouping of the propositions exchanged: a grouping relative to each partner, as a function of exchanges with the other, and a general grouping due to correspondences, reciprocities or complementarities in their joint groupings. Exchange as such therefore constitutes a logic, which converges with the logic of individual propositions. (p.93)

Clearly, then, formal logical operations are constructed as a function of social interaction, in the form of an equilibratory coordination of perspectives. For this reason Piaget (1972b) contends that the construction and completion of logical structures "requires a favorable environment for 'co-operation'"(p.8). In the final analysis "individual functions and collective functions require each other in the explanation of the conditions necessary for logical equilibrium" (Piaget, 1950/1995, p.94).

# c). The 'Social' in the Development of Morality and Affectivity

Piaget's social-relational approach is particularly obvious in his theory of moral development where he explicitly rejects those theorists "who want to explain the moral consciousness by means of purely individual processes" (Piaget, 1932, p.105). As such, Piaget (1932) argues that moral principles are not imposed on the child from the outside but develop as a consequence of social interaction. Specifically, Piaget (1932) maintains that the genesis of the feeling of moral obligation occurs in early parent-child social relationships since "this element of obligation...intervenes as soon as there is a society, i.e., a relation between at least two individuals" (p.33). This suggests, for Piaget (1930), that "[m]oral obligation forms part of the very structure of the child's mind...for these early contacts condition the whole of the child's mental life" (p.281). However, Piaget (1960/1995) points out that the obligations arising from parent-child interactions are based on unilateral respect and, consequently, these early relationships induce in the child a heteronomous morality or a morality of constraint. Piaget considers this moral relationship as one of inequality or imbalance of moral attitudes (Mays, 1982). The child adopts the respected parent's values, but the inverse is not true and, as a result, the child is obligated to conform to examples set by the parent. For this reason Piaget (1932) contrasts relations of constraint or unilateral respect with relations of cooperation or mutual respect and he argues further that any subsequent development of the child's morality will depend on the type of relationship she experiences and how she construes the obligations that they generate for her (Wright, 1982).

Piaget (1932) maintains that peer relationships are more likely to result in co-operation and mutual respect than adult-child relationships because mutual respect grows out of exchanges among individuals who consider themselves as equals. Consequently, peer interactions presuppose the acceptance of common values which, in turn, leads to normative reciprocity and moral obligation and, for Piaget (1968), the principle character of moral obligation of this sort "is that it imputes relative autonomy to the moral consciousness of individuals" (p.57). Piaget (1960/1995) suggests that the development of autonomous morality or a morality of co-operation is particularly clear in the case of the evolution of the rules of a social game. Therefore, Piaget's main interest is in how children come to feel obligated to follow rules and the extent to which both moral rules and obligations are characterised by co-operative relationships (DeVries, 1977). In particular, Piaget (1932; 1960/1995) studies the game of marbles since it involves no control on the part of adults or of children past the ages of 12 or

13 years and, therefore, provides an ideal context for rule-based play and perspective taking amongst equals. According to Piaget it is precisely through engaging in rule-based games that children learn that rules and other social standards may be negotiated and modified through agreed-upon procedures of fairness (Youniss and Damon, 1992). As a result Pisget (1960/ 1995) contends that the individual is able to participate directly in the elaboration of the rules or norms that oblige her instead of receiving them ready-made as happens in the case of the norms of unilateral respect that lie behind heteronomous morality. As such, "cooperation among children constitutes a relatively rich source of moral realties" (Piaget, 1960/1995, p.316) since it allows for the kind of reflection necessary for a commitment to internal, autonomous principles of moral judgment. Thus, Piaget (1932) argues that from the moral point of view co-operation or mutual respect "replaces the norm of authority by...the norm of reciprocity and sympathy" (p.107) and "[h]eteronomy steps aside to make way for a consciousness of good" (ibid, p.404).

Although Piaget's (1932) focus is on the moral developmental process associated with peer interaction he believes that moral judgments are equally dependent on interactions with adults. That is, Piaget (1932) does not claim that it is only in relations with peers that morality develops. Indeed, Piaget (1981a) emphasises that moral judgments emerge from the general process of social cognitive development. Consequently, Piaget (1932) is careful not to equate unilateral respect solely with adult-child interaction and mutual respect solely with interaction amongst peers. Rather Piaget argues that unilateral respect and mutual respect are modes of relating and both can be present at different times within the same ongoing relationship (Wright, 1982). The "earliest social relations contain the germ of co-operation" (Piaget, 1932, p.86) and "cooperation is only one of two poles in any social process, certainly the pole opposed to constraint, but perhaps indissociable from it" (Piaget, 1933/1995, p.232).

Therefore, Piaget (1928/1995) suggests that "a difference in nature between social processes does not exclude a factual continuity between them" (p.208). The point is that all social relationships are developmental in nature and, according to Piaget, all children make the transition from a morality of constraint to a morality of co-operation providing they have the opportunity for reciprocal, co-operative interaction (Lickona, 1976).

On the basis of the foregoing Wright (1982) suggests that moral relationships themselves can be regarded as systems developing towards greater equilibrium and, consequently, the sense of moral obligation generated within co-operative relationships can be regarded as the analogue of logical deduction within intellectual systems. Piaget (1941/1995) endorses this by suggesting that

> normative coordination of the moral type constitutes a system of operations ensuring the conservation of values [which implies] the integration of values in a set of 'groupings' of reversible substitutions, some asymmetrical (morality of duty) and the others symmetrical (reciprocity), but all formally analogous to the logical 'groupings' themselves. (p.121)

In this regard morality and logic are, for Piaget (Kitchener, 1981b), isomorphic to each other and are two aspects of one and the same thing, namely, a system of equilibrated operations characterised as a grouping. Thus, Piaget (1950/1995) argues that in "the moral domain, as in the domain of logical norms, equilibrium is therefore linked to cooperation resulting from the direct reciprocity of actions, as opposed to constraint" (p.61-62). From this perspective "cooperation on the moral plane brings about transformations exactly parallel to those...in the intellectual plane" (Piaget, 1932, p.404). Indeed, for Piaget (in Weinreich-Haste, 1982), cooperation is the very manifestation of morality since without social co-operation "there can be no moral necessity" (Piaget, 1932, p.196). Therefore I contend that just as co-operative interaction is necessary for the achievement of an equilibrated social exchange and, hence, of operatory and logical equilibrium, so too is social co-operation necessary for the achievement of moral equilibrium.

According to Piaget (1968) development in the affective domain requires the gradual disengagement of affectivity "from the self in order to submit, thanks to the reciprocity and coordination of values, to the laws of cooperation" (p.69). Therefore, Piaget (1981a) emphasises that co-operative relationships are equally necessary for the development of affectivity. Indeed, Piaget argues that the progressive differentiation of interests, feelings and values and the increasing stability of affectivity are inseparable from cognitive development and both depend on social relations of reciprocity (DeVries, 1997). Thus, I believe that the attainment of equilibrium in all its forms (intellectual, social, moral and affective) requires the social interaction involved in co-operation.

The arguments presented in part 1 and part 2 of this section provide a clear challenge to charges that Piaget's genetic epistemology is inherently individualistic, asocial or ahistorical. To conclude this section I will briefly look at how Piaget's conceptualisation of the 'social' in genetic epistemology contradicts the specific criticisms leveled at his theory discussed in the literature review.

Clearly, for Piaget (1951/1995), "human intelligence is subject to the action of social life at all levels of development from the first to the last day of life"(p.278). Therefore, it follows that "the stages of development are far from being just a manifestation of internal organic maturation. Equally, they depend in large measure on the child's social environment" (Piaget, 1960, p.296). Thus, social adaptation is as important, for Piaget, as any other form of adaptation, including physical adaptation (Smith, 1995). Moreover, Piaget points out that an

equilibrated system is never static and closed but always mobile and open so that each new level of mental equilibrium prepares for a new disequilibrium (Elkind, 1968). More importantly, this suggests, for Piaget (1978), that each new level of conceptualisation establishes a new equilibrium and, according to Elkind (1968), also opens the individual to new forms of social information. Therefore, I maintain that criticisms of Piaget's biological app oach to development and the concomitant claim that the Piagetian subject is a 'solitary knower' in a physical rather than a social world cannot be sustained.

Furthermore, I contend that Piaget's insistence (in Tryphon and Voneche, 1996) that the "very structure of individual thought depends on the social surroundings" (p.3) provides a challenge to the criticisms of his structuralism and his emphasis on formal operations. As I have shown Piaget's social-relational view of development "admits of actions conditioned by [interpersonal] situations" (Youniss, 1978, p.241). At the interpersonal level relations of constraint and relations of co-operation provide regularity and a known relational context for interacting and, consequently, individuals are able to understand the implication of their actions for their relations. At the level of history and society Piaget and Garcia (1989) point out that thought, and particularly scientific thought, is conditioned by social systems of meaning.

9 573

In addition, Piaget (1972b) emphasises that "in principle all normal individuals are capable of reaching the level of formal structures on the condition that the social environment and acquired experience provide the subject with the cognitive nourishment and intellectual stimulation necessary for such a construction" (p.8). In other words, Piaget accepts that different social and cultural practices can prevent adolescents from reaching formal operational thinking as well as the rate at which children pass through earlier stages of

development (Tudge and Winterhoff, 1993). Indeed, Piaget and Garcia (1989) acknowledge that formal thinking can follow psychogenetic paths different from the ones they identify. This suggests that Piaget recognises that his epistemic subject is not entirely universal or context free (Lourenco and Machado, 1996). Thus, contrary to the criticisms leveled at Piaget, I maintain that Piaget's theory of formal operations explicitly includes a social and cultural dimension.

Furthermore, Piaget (1976) maintains that the most general forms of thought, since they are capable of being dissociated from their content, become the medium of cognitive exchange or interindividual regulation and, as I have shown, Piaget considers -o-operative social interaction and the coordination of viewpoints as the origin of objective knowledge. As Piaget (1950/1995) puts it "there is only one criterion of truth...and that is the agreement among minds" (p.80) and, more importantly, this

agreement between minds which provides the foundation for truth is not a static agreement of common opinion, it is a dynamic convergence resulting from the use of common instruments of thought; it is, in other words, agreement established through the use of similar operations in many individuals. (ibid, p.81)

Clearly, then, Piaget does attribute a necessary role to social or intersubjective factors in the acquisition of objective knowledge. Indeed, I contend that the significance of social life for development rests on Piaget's conceptualisation of social co-operative interaction as a necessary condition for the transition from one developmental level to another. Thus, the issue, for Piaget (1945/1995), is not whether children have psycho-social experience. Rather, Piaget's (1945/1995) account addrecses the question as to when social experience is successful, and particularly, how this contributes to the formation of rationality. Therefore, I maintain that the criticism that Piaget's theory ignores the role of the social in the acquisition of knowledge is fundamentally incorrect.

Moreover, I maintain that Piaget's emphasis on the importance of co-operative social interaction for all areas of development suggests that intellectual, social, moral and affective development cannot occur in a social or cultural vacuum. Indeed, Piaget explicitly states that moral judgments are equally influenced by the historically formed nature of social institutions and that historical changes within a culture are likely to affect the nature of adult-child or peer relations (Tudge and Winterhoff, 1993). Consequently, I contend that the child's values remain functionally tied to the social, cultural and historical context in which she is embedded.

In addition, Piaget's (1932) insistence that egocentrism is not less social than co-operation but rather "presocial, in view of the eventual cooperation, and parasocial, or simply social, in relation to the constraint of which it constitutes the most direct effect" (p.92) undermines the criticism that Piaget's focus on egocentrism ignores the importance of social interaction in early childhood development. In fact, under the impetus of Vygotsky's (1962) criticism, Piaget (in Beilin, 1980) reinterpreted the nature of egocentric language. For instance, with regard to the child's "centering on the self", Piaget and Inhelder (1969) suggest "[w]e no longer call it 'egocentric', as one of us once did, in deference to the criticisms from many psychologists" (p.61). Rather, Piaget's "reinterpretation was based on the progressive decentration of the child's language, thus deemphasizing egocentricity" (Beilin, 1980, p.258).

Furthermore, I believe that since the social dimension is essential in the formation of knowledge, whether physical or social, Piaget cannot be accused of ignoring social factors in his experiments. For Piaget, the mastery of logical and scientific concepts has a social dimension and, since science is an integral part of history and culture, it can be argued that all of the phenomena investigated in Piaget's empirical studies are in fact social phenomena

(Smith, 1996). In addition, Piaget's (1928; 1962) works provide further evidence that he does This is particularly obvious in Piaget's not neglect social factors in his experiments. (1951/1995) empirical study of the development in the child of the idea of homeland and foreign relationships where he demonstrates quite clearly that children's understanding of social relationships parallels their development in logical thinking. Finally, I contend that Piaget's (1981a) work dispels the potion that he equates social cognition with physical cognition. For instance, rather than creating an artificial dichotomy between intelligence and affectivity Piaget (1981a) distinguishes between transactions with physical objects and with people and argues that each domain has both cognitive and affective components. Therefore, Tryphon and Voneche (1996) argue that although intraindividual and interindividual operations result from the same general explanatory mechanism of equilibration this is not to suggest that Piaget treats social cognition as if it were physical cognition. As Smith (1982) points out the content of a subject's knowledge will be different in different contexts (physical or social) even though a subject's understanding of the logical properties of those contents will be the same.

The foregoing exposition of Piaget's conceptualisation of the social, I contend, clearly shows that most of the criticisms in the literature reviewed are not only questionable but also often incorrect. These misunderstandings of Piaget's conceptualisation of the social in genetic epistemology stem, in large part, from the incompleteness of translations of his work into English as well as the volume of Piaget's work and his continual revision of the theory itself. The final section of this report will focus on the implications of Piaget's conceptualisation of the 'social' in genetic epistemology for education. The arguments presented in this section will provide evidence against Vygotsky's (1962) claim that Piaget neglects the important role of social mediation and education in the construction of knowled'ge.

# The Implications of Piaget's Conceptualisation of the 'Social' for Education

Sigel (1969) points out that Piaget's work was not developed "in the service of education, but rather in the service of genetic epistemology" (p.465). Therefore, the emphasis in this section is not on the merits (or lack thereof) of Piaget's theory for education. Neither is it intended as a prescription for teaching. Indeed, Piaget (in Ginsburg, 1981) himself expresses a cautious attitude towards educational applications of his theory and argues instead that it is "the pedagogue's job to see how he can use what we offer" (in Bringuier, 1980, p.131). Thus, the focus of this section is on the **implications** of Piaget's conceptualisation of the 'social' for education and, more specifically, the significance that Piaget attributes to co-operative social interaction in promoting all areas of development. Brown, Metz and Campione (1996) point out that the importance of social interaction as a major force in cognitive development has become associated largely with Vygotskian theory whereas Piaget's genetic epistemology has been seen as influential in mapping individual cognitive growth. As a result 'applications' of Piaget's theory to education are based on fundamental misunderstandings particularly an underestimation of the role of social interaction in the development of knowledge.

Piaget (1960/1995) maintains that "education is one of the fundamental factors in social cohesion and...it arises precisely from social relationships between children and adults" (p.287). However, Piaget (1970b) makes it clear that schooling is a potentially coercive process because adult-child interactions are, more often than not, based on relations of constraint and unilateral respect. This "educative constraint" (Piaget, 1928, p.203) results in a situation in which "the student's intellectual and moral activity remains heteronomous" (Piaget, 1970b, p.151). The teacher is endowed with both intellectual and moral authority and the resulting "prestige that the adult possesses in the child's eyes means that the latter accepts

all affirmations issuing from the teacher as unquestionable, that authority, in other words, dispenses with the need for reflection" (Piaget, 1970b, p.179). As a result, the child is forced to make "assertions without proof...and does not see the need to verify" (Piaget, 1928/1995, p.204). Consequently, exchanges involving relations of unilateral respect lead only to systems of regulations and not operations. As such, Piaget (1945/1995) maintains that social constraint in the classroom inhibits the development of operatory and logical thought. Indeed, Piaget (1981b) insists that under conditions where a child is unable to coordinate or group viewpoints no amount of coercion from other people would engender rationality in the child. Piaget (1970b) does not, however, suggest that the social action of the teacher be eliminated completely. Rather, Piaget (1928/1995) emphasises that teacher-child interaction is useful only to the extent that "the intelligent teacher knows when to step down as a superior and to become an equal, when to engage in discussion and to require proof rather that merely to make assertions and to compel morally" (p.204). Consequently, Piaget (1960/1995) argues that the teacher's focus should be on the type of relationship that is established in the classroom.

More precisely, Piaget (1981b) argues that "in order to teach others to reason logically it is indispensable that there should be established between them and oneself those simultaneous relationships of differentiation and reciprocity which characterize the co-ordination of viewpoints" (p162). In other words, reflection and critical discussion necessary for the constitution of reason "can only be developed by cooperation and genuine intellectual exchange" (Piaget, 1970b, p.179). In this regard, Piaget (1932) emphasises the importance of peer rather than adult-child interaction. As Piaget (1970b) suggests, relations of co-operation and mutuality found in peer interaction provide the ideal forum for helping children to decentre their thinking from one particular egocentric view in order to consider multiple

Ø

perspectives. From the intellectual point of view "it is such cooperation that is most apt to encourage real exchange of thought and discussion, which is to say, all the forms of behavior capable of developing the critical attitude of mind, objectivity, and discursive reflection" (Piaget, 1970b, p.180).

Consequently, Piaget (1970b) argues that the purpose of education is not simply to transmit information to children but rather to get them to construct the means whereby they can begin to develop coordinated knowledge. Piaget (1932) believes that this can be achieved by encouraging group work, common study and self-government amongst peers. In this way social life becomes an essential complement to individual activity and "cooperation is promoted to the rank of a factor essential to intellectual progress" (Piaget, 1932, p.405). The implication here is that knowledge construction is fostered in co-operative and reciprocal social interaction before individual mastery is achieved. Indeed, Piaget claims that group judgments often produce superior performances (Garton, 1992). This is because knowledge, for Piaget, "is constructive, and consequently, is best demonstrated in situations where something new is generated, something that was not already available to the operator" (Von Glaserfeld, 1987, p.11). More importantly, Piaget (1933/1995) advocates the creation of interpersonal discussion, conflict and debate amongst peers in the classroom and argues that this gives rise to cognitive growth. Piaget views learning as an aspect of the process of adaptation and, therefore, change in the child's behaviour occurs as an adaptation to the disequilibria created when external or internal demands are in conflict with the child's (internal) cognitive schemes (Beilin, 1980). Consequently, Piaget (1985) argues that one of the sources of progress in the development of knowledge must be "sought in disequilibria" (p.10). For Piaget, it is precisely conflict, debate or discussion amongst peers that results in cognitive disequilibrium in the individual and subsequent attempts by the individual to reach

56

logical resolution of this internal cognitive conflict, which leads to cognitive advances (Tudge and Rogoff, 1989). In other words, Piaget considers the conflict generated in peer interaction as instrumental in promoting the equilibration process (Ginsburg, 1981).

However, Piaget stresses that conflict should be regarded as part of the content of the interaction and not just a characteristic of the interaction itself (Garton, 1992). That is, conflict describes the process of social interaction that engenders cognitive growth. Thus, the emphasis moves to the processes of interaction, of which co-operative communication between partners is crucial. Consequently, I contend that the focus should be on the way conflict becomes resolved through co-operative communication and interaction amongst peers and not on the behaviours that manifest conflict as such. Indeed, the very process of resolving conflicts or disagreements is dependent, for Piaget, on the active exchange of ideas in the classroom using a common language and system of ideas (Tudge and Rogoff, 1989). In this way children are able to work out their differences of opinion through coming to understand the different perspectives and logically comparing their value. Therefore, I maintain that it is not merely peer interaction that is important for development but a specific type of intellectual exchange (as defined by Piaget's success conditions mentioned earlier) based on reciprocity, co-operation and mutual respect amongst equals. As Piaget (1932) puts it "criticism is born of discussion, and discussion is only possible among equals" (p.409), Furthermore, Piaget (1933/1995) contends that social discussion in the classroom and reciprocity of ideas is necessary for conscious realization. This is because "reflection, being a 'conscious realization', presupposes the formulation, or the concourse of points of view" (Piaget, 1933/1995, p.222). Therefore, Beilin (1981) maintains that, for Piaget, language should not be relegated to a position secondary to activity but rather linguistic activity should be recognised as a necessary and dynamic force in intellectual and social development.

To some extent Piaget's "conception of co-operative activity as equilibration corresponds with Vygotsky's conception of the role of social activity in individual internalization" (DeVries, 1997, p.16). Piaget (1933/1995) maintains that "human society presupposes an increasing number of relations external to the individual" (p.217). However, Piaget (1960/1995) emphasises that "educational transmission from one generation to the next or from the adult to the child in no way consists of a simple transmission but are instead, creative of new social realities" (p.300). As such, Piaget (1933/1995), suggests that social constraint "is only the external appearance of society" (p.239) whereas "cooperation marks the internalization of the social in the individual" (ibid, p.220). In other words

cooperation in a certain sense is the product of internalization of 'external' society, just as knowledge is an internalization of experience: indeed, it suppresses the self (as self-centred) to the benefit of reciprocity, just as reason suppresses subjectivity to the benefit of forming an objective reality...The 'social' exterior is thus reduced to pure reciprocity: it meets the inner social and the individual in a new synthesis that surpasses both egocentrism and coercion. (Piaget, 1933, p.241)

In conclusion I contend that co-operation, for Piaget, is the ideal form of social interaction promoting optimal intellectual, social, moral and affective development. Consequently, I maintain that Piaget's conceptualisation of the 'social' in genetic epistemology suggests that co-operative social interaction must be an intrinsic feature of education and not just an additional or external factor. That is, education should be founded upon social relations of co-operation with an emphasis on peer interaction. Indeed, Piaget (1928/1995) argues that if the child attains the intellectual autonomy of the adult "it is to the extent that he was able to become a personality in discussion with peers and to the extent that adults will have learned to cooperate without constraining" (p.205). Clearly, then, mature rational thinking is achieved, for Piaget, through development requiring construction via co-operative social interaction (Youniss, 1995). Therefore, I agree with Brown, Metz and Campione's (1996) contention that

Piaget's genetic epistemology does more than Vygotsky's theory in explaining how group participation, dialogical interaction and argumentation and refutation among peers enables the development of rational thinking. Furthermore, I contend that Piaget's social-relational view of development and his focus on the detrimental effect of authority relationships for learning raises an interesting challenge to Vygotsky's (1962) notion of the zone of proximal development (ZPD).

Ð

G

# Conclusion

This research report has shown that the 'social' constitutes an integral part of Piaget's explanation of human cognitive development and that the 'social' has been present in his theorising from the early years of his research. In particular, I have shown that although Piaget's genetic epistemology is based on a biological model of comparative anatomy, social life, for Piaget, constitutes an essential factor in the genesis and development of human knowledge. Furthermore, Piaget's social-relational view of development and his interactive constructivist approach to cognitive development emphasises the social quality inherent in all individual knowledge whether physical or social.

In addition I have shown that Piaget's theory of equilibration is essentially a socially driven process. More specifically, the social in the form of co-operative exchange is necessary for the achievement of equilibrated intellectual knowledge and, hence, of operatory equilibrium. Moreover, the 'social' is central to Piaget's explanation of the construction of logic and without social co-operation the development of morality and affectivity would be incomplete. In other words, for Piaget, the 'social' in the form of co-operation is necessary for the achievement of intellectual, operatory, logical, moral and affective equilibrium. Consequently, I maintain that the criticisms that Piaget's genetic epistemology neglects the social dimension are unjustified.

Finally, I contend that Piaget's extensive and complex notion of the role of the 'social' in cognitive development presents interesting possibilities for further research. For instance, the degree to which Piaget's assertions that power relations or relations of authority (constraint) have an adverse effect on learning could be studied empirically. Piaget's (1970b) focus on the

impact of different social relationships, namely, relations of constraint and relations of cooperation, for all development, and specifically learning, contrasts with Vygotsky's (1962) notion of the ZPD in which a novice works with an authority or a knowing other. For Vygotsky (1962), this relationship results in the internalisation of external social knowledge whereas in the Piagetian sense the novice simply assimilates the information given to her. That is, for Piaget (1970b), in relationships of authority the child does not necessarily construct something new. Rather, for Piaget (1970b), it is only social relationships of cooperation, incorporating symmetrical reciprocity and mutual respect amongst equals, that result in the successful internalisation of external social knowledge/ This suggests that, for Piaget, learning should not be limited solely to conditions where the authority (adult, teacher or more knowledgeable peer) alone creates the ZPD for the novice (student).<sup>4</sup> Consequently, I believe that possibilities exist for an empirical verification of Piaget's contention that cooperative learning amongst peers or equals is essential for cognitive growth and it is this idea that I hope to pursue in the future.

<sup>4</sup> Although Vygotsky (1962) acknowledges that the ZPD can be created amongst peers his emphasis on a more knowledgeable other implies an authority figure/power relationship.

#### References

- Apostel, L. (1986). The Unknown Piaget: From the Theory of Exchange and Co-operation Toward the Theory of Knowledge. <u>New Ideas in Psychology</u>, Vol. 4, No. 1, pp. 3-22.
- Atkinson, C. (1983). <u>Making Sense of Piaget: The Philosophical Roots</u>. London: Routledge and Kegan Paul.
- Bagus, R. (1992). <u>On "Missing the Point": A Defence of Seymour Papert's "Exercise in an</u> <u>Applied Genetic Epistemology"</u>. Unpublished Med Research Report, University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg.
- Beilin, H. (1980). Piaget's Theory: Refinement, Revision, or Rejection? In Kluwe, R.H. and Spada, H. (Eds.) <u>Developmental Models of Thinking</u>. New York: Academic Press.
- Beilin, H. (1981). Language and Thought: Thistles among the Sedums. In Sigel, I.E., Brodzinsky, D.M. and Golinkoff, R.M. (Eds.) <u>New Directions in Piagetian Theory</u> <u>and Practice</u>. New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Beilin, H. (1992). Piaget's Enduring Contribution to Developmental Psychology. Developmental Psychology, Vol. 28, No. 2, pp. 191-204.
- Borke, H. (1971). Interpersonal Perception of Young Children: Egocentrism or Empathy? Developmental Psychology, Vol. 5, No. 2, pp. 263-269.
- Borke, H. (1975). Piaget's Mountains Revisited: Changes in the Egocentric Landscape. Developmental Psychology, Vol. 11, No. 2, pp. 240-243.
- Borke, H. (1978). Piaget's View of Social Interaction and the Theoretical Construct of Empathy. In Siegel, L.S. and Brainerd, C.J. (Eds.) <u>Alternatives to Piaget: Critical</u> <u>Essays on the Theory</u>. New York: Academic Press.

- Bornstein, M.H. and Bruner, J.S. (1989). (Eds.) <u>Interaction in Human Development</u>. London: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Bovet, M., Parrat-Dayan, S. and Voneche, J. (1989). Cognitive Development and Interaction.
  In Bornstein, M.H. and Bruner, J.S. (Eds.) <u>Interaction in Human Development</u>. New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.

Bringuier, J. (1980). Conversations with Jean Piaget. London: University of Chicago Press.

- Bronckart, J.P. (1996). Units of Analysis in Psychology and their Interpretation: Social Interactionism or Logical Interactionism? In Tryphon, A. and Voneche, J. (Eds.) <u>Piaget-Vygotsky: The Social Genesis of Thought</u>. East Sussex: Psychology Press.
- Broughton, J.M. (1981a). Piaget's Structural Developmental Psychology. I. Piaget and Structuralism. <u>Human Development</u>, Vol. 24, pp. 78-109.
- Broughton, J.M. (1981b). Piaget's Structural Developmental Psychology. III. Function and the Problem of Knowledge. <u>Human Development</u>, Vol. 24, pp. 257-285.

Õ

- Broughton, J.M. (1981c). Piaget's Structural Developmental Psychology. IV. Knowledge without a Self and without History. <u>Human Development</u>, Vol. 24, pp. 320-346.
- Broughton, J.M. (1981d). Piaget's Structural Developmental Psychology. V. Ideology-Critique and the Possibility of a Critical Developmental Theory. <u>Human</u> <u>Development</u>, Vol. 24, pp. 382-411.
- Broughton, J.M. (1984). Not Beyond Formal Operations but Beyond Piaget. In Commons,
   M.L., Richards, F.A. and Armon, C. (Eds.) <u>Beyond Formal Operations: Late</u>
   <u>Adolescent and Adult Cognitive Development</u>. New York: Praeger.
- Brown, A.L., Metz, K.E. and Campione, J.C. (1996). Social Interaction and Individual Understanding in a Community of Learners: The Influence of Piaget and Vygotsky. In Tryphone, A. and Voneche, J. (Eds.) <u>Piaget-Vygotsky: The Social Genesis of Thought</u>. East Sussex: Psychology Press.

- Brown, A.L. and Reeve, R.A. (1986). Reflection on the Growth of Reflection in Children. <u>Cognitive Development</u>, Vol. 1, pp. 405-416.
- Bruner, J. (1959). Inhelder and Piaget's The Growth of Logical Thinking. I. A Psychologist's Viewpoint. <u>British Journal of Psychology</u>, Vol. 50, pp. 363-370.
- Bruner, J. (1985). Vygotsky: A Historical and Conceptual Perspective. In Wertsch, J.V.
   (Ed.) <u>Culture, Communication and Cognition: Vygotskian Perspectives</u>. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Buck-Morss, S. (1980). Piaget, Adorno, and the Possibility of Dialectical Operations. In Silverman, H.J. (Ed.) <u>Piaget Philosophy and the Human Sciences</u>. New Jersey: Humanities Press.
- Buck-Morrs, S. (1982). Socio-economic Bias in Piaget's Theory and its Implications for Cross-culture Studies. In Modgil, S. and Modgil, C. (Eds.) Jean Piaget: Consensus and Controversy. London: Holt, Rinehart and Winston.
- Buss, A.R. (1977). Piaget, Marx, and Buck-Morrs on Cognitive Development: A Critique and Reinterpretation. <u>Human Development</u>, Vol. 20, pp. 118-128.
- Butterworth, G. (1982). A Brief Account of the Conflict between the Individual and the Social in Models of Cognitive Growth. In Butterworth, G. and Light, P. (Eds.) <u>Social</u> <u>Cognition: Studies of the Development of Understanding</u>. Brighton: The Harvester Press.
- Butterworth, G. (1987). Some Benefits of Egocentrism. In Bruner, J. and Haste, H. (Eds.) <u>Making Sense: The Child's Construction of the World</u>. London: Methuen.
- Butterworth, G. (1993). Context and Cognition in Models of Cognitive Growth. In Light, P. and Butterworth, G. (Eds.) <u>Context and Cognition: Ways of Learning and Knowing</u>. New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.

Chapman, M. (1986). The Structure of Exchange: Piaget's Sociological Theory. <u>Human</u> <u>Development</u>, Vol. 29, pp. 181-194.

- Chapman, M. (1988). <u>Constructive Evolution: Origins and Development of Piaget's</u> <u>Thought</u>. New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Chapman, M. (1992). Equilibration and the Dialectics of Organization. In Beilin, H. and Pufall, P. (Eds.) <u>Piaget's Theory: Prospects and Possibilities</u>. New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.

Cohen, D. (1983). Piaget: Critique and Reassessment. London, Croom Holm.

- Cole, M. and Wertsch, J.V. (1996). Beyond the Individual-Social Antinomy in Discussions rof Piaget and Vygotsky. <u>Human Development</u>, Vol. 39, pp. 250-256.
- Damon, W. (1979). Why Study Social-Cognitive Development? <u>Human Development</u>, Vol. 22, pp. 206-211.
- Damon, W. (1981). Exploring Children's Social Cognition on Two Fronts In Flavell, J.H.
   and Ross, L. (Eds.) <u>Social Cognitive Development: Frontiers and Possible Futures</u>.
   Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Damon, W. (1983). The Nature of Social-Cognitive Change in the Developing Child. In Overton, W.F. (Ed.) <u>The Relationship Between Social and Cognitive Development</u>. London: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- DeVries, R. (1997). Piaget's Social Theory. <u>Educational Researcher</u>, Vol. 26, No. 2, pp. 4-17.

- Doise, W. and Mugny, G. (1984). <u>The Social Development of the Intellect</u>. Oxford: Pergamon Press.
- Dunbar, K. (1995). How Scientists Really Reason: Scientific Reasoning in Real-World Laboratories. In Sternberg, R.J. and Davidson, J.E. (Eds.) <u>The Nature of Insigh</u> London: MIT Press.

- Elkind, D. (1968). Introduction. In Piaget, J. (1968). <u>Six Psychological Studies</u>. New York: Vintage Books.
- Evans, R.I. (1973). Jean Piaget: The Man and His Ideas. New York: E.R. Dutton and Co, inc.
- Ford, M.E. (1979). The Construct Validity of Egocentrism. <u>Psychological Bulletin</u>, Vol. 86, No. 6, pp. 1169-1188.
- Furth, H.G. (1980). <u>The World of Grown-Ups: Children's Conceptions of Society</u>. New York: Elsevier.
- Furth, H. (1983). Freud, Piaget and MacMurray: A Theory of Knowledge from the Standpoint of Personal Relations. <u>New Ideas in Psychology</u>, Vol. 1. No. 1, pp. 51-65.
- Furth, H.G. (1986). The Social Function of Piaget's Theory: A Response to Apostel. <u>New</u> <u>Ideas in Psychology</u>, Vol. 1, No. 1, pp. 23-29.
- Garton, A.F. (1992). <u>Social Interaction and the Development of Language and Cognition</u>. Hillsdale: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Ginsburg, H.P. (1981). Piaget and Education: The Contributions and Limits of Genetic Epistemology. In Sigel, I.E., Brodzinsky, D.M. and Golinkoff, R.M. (Eds.) <u>New Directions in Piagetian Theory and Practice</u>. New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Glachan, M. and Light, P. (1982). Peer Interaction and Learning: Can Two Wrongs Make a Right? In Butterworth, G. and Light, P. (Eds.) <u>Social Cognition: Studies of the</u> <u>Development of Understanding</u>. Brighton: The Harvester Press.
- Glick, J. (1978). Cognition and Social Cognition: An Introduction. In Glick, J. and Clarke-Stewart, K.A. (Eds.) <u>The Development of Social Understanding</u>. New York: Gardner
   Press.
- Hamlyn, D.W. (1967). The Logical and Psychological Aspects of Learning. In Peters, R.S.
  (Ed.) <u>The Concept of Education</u>. London: Routledge and Kegan Paul.
- Hamlyn, D.W. (1974) Person-Perception and our Understanding of Others. In Mischel, T.
   (Ed.) <u>Understanding Other Persons</u>. Oxford: Basil Blackwell.
- Hamlyn, D.W. (1978). Experience and the Growth of Understanding. London: Routledge and Kegan Paul.
- Hamlyn, D.W. (1982). What Exactly is Social about the Origins of Understanding? In Butterworth, G. and Light, P. (Eds.) <u>Social Cognition: Studies of the Development of</u> <u>Understanding</u>. Brighton: The Harvester Press.
- Haroutunian, S. (1983). <u>Equilibrium in the Balance</u>. A Study of Psychological Explanation. New York: Springer-Verlag.
- Harré, R. (1974). Some Remarks on 'Rule' as a Scientific Concept. In Mischel, T. (Ed.) <u>Understanding Other Persons</u>. Oxford: Basil Blackwell.
- Harré, R. (1986). The Step to Social Constructionism. In Richards, M. and Light, P. (Eds.) Children of Social Worlds: Development in a Social Context. Cambridge: Polity Press.
- Hoffman, M.L. (1976). Empathy, Role Taking, Guilt, and Development of AltruisticMotives. In Lickona, T. Geis, G. and Kohlberg, L. (Eds.) <u>Moral Development and</u>

Behavior: Theory, Research, and Social Issues. New York: Holt, Rinehart and Winston.

- Hoffman, M.L. (1981). Perspectives on the Difference between Unders. unding People and Understanding Things: The Role of Affect. In Flavell, J.H. and Ross, L. (Eds.)
   <u>Social Cognitive Development: Frontiers and Possible Futures</u>. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Ingleby, D. (1986). Development in Social Context. In Richards, M. and Light, P. (Eds.) <u>Children of Social Worlds: Development in a Social Context</u>. Cambridge: Polity Press.
- Kaplan, B. (1971). Genetic Psychology, Genetic Epistemology, and Theory of Knowledge.
   In Mischel, T. (Ed.) <u>Cognitive Development and Epistemology</u>. New York: Academic Press.
- Keating, D.P. and Clark, L.V. (1980). Development of Physical and Social Reasoning in Adolescence. <u>Developmental Psychology</u>, Vol. 16, No. 1, pp. 23-30.
- Kitchener, R.F. (1978). Epigenesis: The Role of Biological Models in Developmental Psychology. <u>Human Development</u>, Vol. 21, pp. 141-160.
- Kitchener, R.F. (1981a). The Nature and Scope of Genetic Epistemology. <u>Philosophy of Science</u>, Vol. 48, No. 3, pp. 400-415.
- Kitchener, R.F. (1981b). Piaget's Social Psychology. Journal for the Theory of Social Behaviour, Vol. 11, pp. 253-277.
- Kitchener, R.F. (1985). Holistic Structuralism, Elementarism and Piaget's Theory of 'Relationalism'. <u>Human Development</u>, Vol. 28, p. 281-194.
- Kitchener, R.F. (1986). <u>Piaget's Theory of Knowledge Genetic Epistemology and Scientific</u> <u>Reason</u>. New Haven: Yale University Press.

Kitchener, R.F. (1996). The Nature of the Social for Piaget and Vygotsky. <u>Human</u> <u>Development</u>, Vol. 39, pp. 243-249.

ヤン

18

- Lickona, T. (1976). Research on Piaget's Theory of Moral Development. In Lickona, T., Geis, G. and Kohlberg, L. (Eds.) <u>Moral Development and Behavior: Theory.</u> <u>Research, and Social Issues</u>. New York: Holt, Rinehart and Winston.
- Light, P. (1986). Context, Conservation and Conversation. In Richards, M. and Light, P. (Eds.) <u>Children of Social Worlds: Development in a Social Context</u>. Cambridge: Polity Press.
- Light, P. (1987). Taking Roles. In Bruner, J. and Haste, H. (Eds.) <u>Making Sense: The</u> <u>Child's Construction of the World</u>. London: Methuen.
- Lourenco, O. and Machado, A. (1996). In Defense of Piaget's Theory: A Reply to 10 Common Criticisms. <u>Psychological Review</u>, Vol. 103, No. 1, pp. 143-164.
- Marti, E. (1996). Mechanisms of Internalisation and Externalisation of Knowledge in Piaget's and Vygotsky's Theories. In Tryphon, A. and Voneche, J. (Eds.) <u>Piaget-Vygotsky: The Social Genesis of Thought</u>. East Sussex: Psychology Press.
- Mays, W. (1982). Piaget's Sociological Theory. In Modgil, S. and Modgil, C. (Eds.) Jean <u>Piaget: Consensus and Controversy</u>. London: Holt, Rinehart and Winston.
- Meacham, J.A. (1975). A Dialectical Approach to Moral Judgment and Self-Esteem. <u>Human</u> <u>Development</u>, Vol. 18, pp. 159-170.
- Mercer, N. (1993). Culture, Context and the Construction of Knowledge in the Classroom. In Light, P. and Butterworth, G. (Eds.) <u>Context and Cognition: Ways of Learning and Knowing</u>. New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Moessinger, P. (1978). Piaget on Equilibration. <u>Human Development</u>, Vol. 21, No. 4, pp. 255-267.

- Moll, I. (1984). <u>The Problem of Content in the Theory of Formal Operations: Piaget and</u> <u>Vygotskii in the South African Context</u>. Unpublished MA (Psychology) Dissertation, University of the Witwatersrand.
- Murray, F.B. (1983). Cognition of Physical and Social Events. In Overton, W.F. (Ed.) <u>The</u> <u>Relationship Between Social and Cognitive Development</u>. London: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Perret-Clermont, A.N. (1980). <u>Social Interaction and Cognitive Development in Children</u>. London: Academic Press.
- Piaget, J. (1926). The Language and Thought of the Child. New York: Harcourt Brace.
- Piaget, J. (1928). Judgment and Reasoning in the Child. London: Routledge and Kegan Paul.
- Piaget, J. (1930). <u>The Child's Conception of Physical Causality</u>. London: Kegan Paul, Trench, Trubner and Co.
- Piaget, J. (1932). The Moral Judgment of the Child. London: Routledge and Kegan Paul.
- Piaget, J. (1951). The Child's Conception of the World. Maryland: Littlefield Adams.
- Piaget, J. (1957). The Construction of Reality in the Child. New York: Basic Books.
- Piaget, J. (1960). The General Problems of the Psychobiological Development of the Child. In Tanner, J.M. and Inhelder, B. (Eds.) <u>Discussions on Child Development</u>, Vol. 4, pp. 3-27. London: Tavistock.
- Piaget, J. (1962). <u>Play, Dreams and Imitation in Childhood</u>. London: Routledge and Kegan Paul.
- Piaget, J. (1964). Development and Learning. In Ripple, R.E. and Rockcastle, V.N. (Eds.) <u>Piaget Reconsidered</u>. Ithaca: Cornell University Press.

Piaget, J. (1968). Six Psychological Studies. New York: Vintage Books.

70

- Piaget, J. (1970a). Piaget's Theory. In Mussen, P.H. (Ed.) <u>Carmichael's Manual of Child</u> Psychology, Third Edition, Vol. 1. New York.
- Piaget, J. (1970b). <u>Science of Education and the Psychology of the Child</u>. New York: Orion Press.
- Piaget, J. (1971). Genetic Epistemology. New York: W.W. Norton and Company.

The second

- Piaget, J. (1972a). <u>The Principles of Genetic Epistemology</u>. London: Routledge and Kegan Paul.
- Piaget, J. (1972b). Intellectual Evolution from Adolescence to Adulthood. <u>Human</u> <u>Development</u>, Vol. 15, pp. 1-12.
- Piaget, J. (1976). Biology and Cognition. In Inhelder, B. and Chipman, H.H. (Eds.) <u>Piaget</u> and <u>His School</u>. New York: Springer-Verlag.
- Piaget, J. (1977a). The Origin of Intelligence in the Child. London: Penguin Books.
- Piaget, J. (1977b). The Role of Imitation in the Development of Representational Thought. In Gruber, H.E. and Voneche, J.J. (Eds.) <u>The Essential Piaget</u>. New York: Basic Books.
- Piaget, J. (1978). <u>The Development of Thought</u>. Equilibration of Cognitive Structures. Oxford: Basil Blackwell.
- Piaget, J. (1981a). Intelligence and Affectivity: Their Relationship During Child Development. Palo Alto: Annual Reviews Inc.

Piaget, J. (1981b). The Psychology of Intelligence. New Jersey: Littlefield Adams and Co.

Piaget, J. (1985). <u>The Equilibration of Cognitive Structures: The Central Problem of</u> <u>Intellectual Development</u>, Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

Piaget, J. (1986). Jean Piaget. In Boring, E.G., Langfeld, H.S., Werner, H. and Yerkes, R.M. (Eds.) <u>A History of Psychology in Autobiography</u>. New York; Russell and Russell.

Piaget, J. (1995). Sociological Studies. London: Routledge.

- Piaget, J. and Garcia, R. (1989). <u>Psychogenesis and the History of Science</u>. New York: Columbia University Press.
- Piaget, J. and Inhelder, B. (1969). <u>The Psychology of the Child</u>. London: Routledge and Kegan Paul.
- Riegel, K.F. (1973). Dialectical Operations: The Final Period of Cognitive Development. Human Development, Vol. 16, pp. 346-370.
- Riegel, K.F. (1975a). Subject-Object Alienation in Psychological Experiments and Testing. <u>Human Development</u>, Vol. 18, pp. 181-193.
- Riegel, K.F. (1975b). Toward a Dialectical Theory of Development. <u>Human Development</u>, Vol. 18, pp. 50-64.
- Riegel, K.F. and Meacham, J.A. (1978). Dialectics, Transaction, and Piaget's Theory. In Pervin, L.A. and Lewis, M. (Eds.) <u>Perspectives in International Psychology</u>. New York: Plenum Press.
- Rotman, B. (1977). Jean Piaget: Psychologist of the Real. London: The Harvester Press.
- Sameroff, A. (1975). Transactional Models in Early Social Relations. <u>Human Development</u>, Vol. 18, pp. 65-79.
- Sigel, I.E. (1969). The Piagetian System and the World of Education. In Elkind, D. and Flavell, J.H. (Eds.) <u>Studies in Cognitive Development: Essays in Honor of Jean</u> <u>Piaget</u>. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Sigel, I.E. (1981). Social Experience in the Development of Representational Thought: Distancing Theory. In Sigel, I.E., Brodzinsky, D.M. and Golinkoff, R.M. (Eds.) <u>New</u> <u>Directions in Piagetian Theory and Practice</u>. New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Simpson, E.L. (1974). Moral Development Research: A Case Study of Scientific Cultural Bias. <u>Human Development</u>, Vol. 17, pp. 81-106.

Sinclair, H. (1982). Piaget on Language: A Perspective. In Modgil, S. and Modgil, C. (Eds.) Jean Piaget: Consensus and Controversy. London: Holt, Rinehart and Winston.

Smith, L. (1982). Piaget and the Solitary Knower. <u>Philosophy of the Social Sciences</u>, Vol. 12, pp. 173-182.

10

- Smith, L. (1987). On Piaget on Necessity. In Russell, J. (Ed.) <u>Philosophical Perspectives</u> on <u>Developmental Psychology</u>. London: Basil Blackwell.
- Smith, L. (1995). Introduction to Piaget's Sociological Studies. In Piaget, J. (1995). Sociological Studies. London: Routledge.
- Smith, L. (1996). The Social Construction of Rational Understanding. In Tryphon, A. and Voneche, J. (Eds.) <u>Piaget-Vygotsky: The Social Genesis of Thought</u>. East Sussex: Psychology Press.
- Stuart, R.B. (1967). Decentration in the Development of Children's Concepts of Moral and Causal Judgment. Journal of Genetic Psychology, Vol. 3, pp. 59-68.

Toulmin, S. (1972). Human Understanding: Volume I. Oxford: Clarendon Press.

- Toulmin, S. (1981). Epistemology and Developmental Psychology. In Gollin, E.S. (Ed.)
   <u>Developmental Plasticity: Behavioral and Biological Aspects of Variations in</u>
   <u>Development</u>. New York: Academic Press.
- Tryphon, A. and Voneche, J. (1996). Introduction. In Tryphon, A. and Voneche, J. (Eds.) <u>Piaget-Vygotsky: The Social Genesis of Thought</u>. East Sussex: Psychology Press.
- Tudge, J. and Rogoff, B. (1989). Peer Influence on Cognitive Development: Piagetian and Vygotskian Perspectives. I Bornstein, M.H. and Bruner, J.S. (Eds.) <u>Interaction in</u> <u>Human Development</u>. Nev Jersey: Lawrence Eribaum Associates.
- Tudge, J.R.H. and Winterhoff, P A. (1993). Vygotsky, Piaget, and Bandura: Perspectives on the Relations between the Social World and Cognitive Development. <u>Human</u> <u>Levelopment</u>, Vol. 36, pp. 61-81.

Von Glaserfeld, E. (1987). Learning as a Constructive Activity. In Janvier, C. (Ed.) <u>Problems of Representation in the Teaching and Learning of Mathematics</u>. New Jersey: Erlbaum.

17

Vygotsky, L.S. (1962). Thought and Language. Cambridge: MIT Press.

2

Vygotsky, L.S. (1978). Mind in Society. Cambridge: Harvard University Press.

- Waters, H.S. and Tinsley, V.S. (1985). Evaluating the Discriminant and Convergent Validity of Developmental Constructs: Another Look at the Concept of Egocentrism. <u>Psychological Bulletin</u>, Vol. 97, No. 3, pp. 483-496.
- Weinreich-Haste, H. (1982). Piaget on Morality: A Critical Perspective. In Modgil, S. and Modgil, C. (Eds.) Jean Piaget: Consensus and Controversy. London: Holt, Rinehart and Winston.
- Wilden, A. (1980). System and Structure: Essays in Communication and Exchange. London: Tavistock Publications.
- Wozniak, R.H. (1974). Dialectics and Operatory Thinking: A Commentary on Youniss'
   'Operations and Everyday Thinking: A Commentary on "Dialectical Operations".
   <u>Human Development</u>, Vol. 17, pp. 392-394.
- Wozniak, R.H. (1996). Qu'est-ce que l'intelligence? Piaget, Vygotsky, and the 1920s Crisis in Psychology. In Tryphon, A. and Voneche, J. (Eds.) <u>Piaget-Vygotsky: The Social</u> <u>Genesis of Thought</u>. East Sussex: Psychology Press.

Wright, D. (1982). Piaget's Theory of Moral Development. In Modgil, S. and Modgil, C. (Eds.) Jean Piaget: Consensus and Controversy. London: Holt, Rinehart and Winston,
Youniss, J. (1978). Dialectical Theory and Piaget on Social Knowledge. <u>Human</u> Development, Vol. 21, pp. 234-247.

- Youniss, J. (1981). A Revised Interpretation of Piaget (1932). In Sigel, I.E., Brodzinsky, D.M. and Golinkoff, R.M. (Eds.) <u>New Directions in Piagetian Theory and Practice</u>. New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum and Associates.
- Youniss, J. (1983). Piaget and the Self Constituted Through Relations. In Overton, W.F.
   (Ed.) <u>The Relationship Between Social and Cognitive Development</u>. London: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Youniss, J. and Damon, W. (1992). Social Construction in Piaget's Theory. In Beilin, H. and Pufall, P. (Eds.) <u>Piaget's Theory: Prospects and Possibilities</u>. New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Youniss, J. (1995). The Still Useful Classic Concept of Development. <u>Human Development</u>, Vol. 38, pp. 373-379.

al-

## Author Court J Name of thesis The "Social"In Plaget'S Genetic Epistemology Court J 1999

## **PUBLISHER:**

University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg ©2013

## LEGAL NOTICES:

**Copyright Notice:** All materials on the University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg Library website are protected by South African copyright law and may not be distributed, transmitted, displayed, or otherwise published in any format, without the prior written permission of the copyright owner.

**Disclaimer and Terms of Use:** Provided that you maintain all copyright and other notices contained therein, you may download material (one machine readable copy and one print copy per page) for your personal and/or educational non-commercial use only.

The University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg, is not responsible for any errors or omissions and excludes any and all liability for any errors in or omissions from the information on the Library website.